

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

The Impacts of Coercive Federal Incentives on State-Level Policy **Coalitions**

James Edward Wilson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Public Administration Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

James Wilson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Vincent Adejumo, Committee Chairperson,
Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Mary Bruce, Committee Member, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Dr. Timothy Fadgen, University Reviewer, Public Policy and Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

The Impacts of Coercive Federal Incentives on State-Level Policy Coalitions

by

James E. Wilson

MA, Loyola College in Maryland, 2002 BS, Duquesne University, 1994

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

August 2020

Abstract

The increase in the requirements by state departments of education to be more accountable for student achievement is a key initiative of the federal government. The federal Race to the Top initiative provides a competitive system to qualify for grant funds. The nature of this funding program required accountability systems to be in place prior to application and awarded funds on a competitive system. There has been no research conducted on how a competitive federal grant program would impact the statelevel policy coalitions. The purpose of this study was to examine the impacts a federal incentive had on the existing state-level policy coalition. The framework for this research is the Advocacy Coalition Framework developed by Sabatier and Jenkins-Smith. The research questions examined the impact of the federal incentive on the actions of policymakers within the coalition, what perceived benefits or drawbacks this type of incentive has on policymaking, and what impact similar incentives would have on vulnerable populations. This study relied on review of the bills and amendments, hearing testimony, and public documents associated with this initiative. Additionally, an interview conducted with a policymaker involved in this initiative was conducted to confirm any findings in the documentation. The findings showed that the incentive impacted the process by providing an external push for designing education policy in the state. It also impacted the actions of advocates for special interest groups took during the process, adjusting their advocacy for certain positions to be supportive of the overall initiative. Understanding how this type of federal incentive impacts state policy development allows policy makers and advocates to adjust their actions and continue to serve their respective constituent groups appropriately, resulting in social change.

The Impacts of Coercive Federal Incentives on State-Level Policy Coalitions by

James E. Wilson

MA, Loyola College in Maryland, 2002 BS, Duquesne University, 1994

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Public Policy and Administration

Walden University

August 2020

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	iv	
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1			
	Introduction	1	
	Background	2	
	Problem Statement	3	
	Purpose of the Study	4	
	Significance of the Study	4	
	Research Questions	5	
	Research Design	6	
	Theoretical Framework	8	
	Nature of the Study	14	
	Elected Membership	15	
	Regulatory Personnel	16	
	Advocacy Groups	18	
	Variations and Issues	19	
	Definitions	20	
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Scope	21	
	Delimitations and Scope	22	
	Limitations	23	
	Significance	24	
	Summary	24	

Chapter 2: Literature Review	26
Search Strategy	26
The Advocacy Coalition Framework	27
Coalition Membership	29
Mechanisms of Policy Transfer	31
Policy Development in the Advocacy Coalition Framework	34
Summary and Conclusions	37
Chapter 3: Research Method	40
Introduction	40
Research Design and Rationale	40
Role of Researcher	41
Methodology	41
Issues of Trustworthiness	44
Ethical Considerations	45
Summary	47
Chapter 4: Results	49
Settings	49
Data: Legislative Documents	50
Data: Legislative Hearings	50
Data: Public-Facing Documents	51
Data: Interviews	51
Data Analysis	52

Blocked Amendments	56
Evidence of Trustworthiness	67
Results	67
Summary	74
Chapter 5: Conclusion.	76
Interpretation	76
Implications for Social Change	79
Limitations of the Study	80
Recommendations	81
Conclusion	82
References	
Appendix A	102
First to the Top Initial and Final Bills	102
Appendix B	137
Tennessee First to the Ton Amendment List	137

List of Tables

Table 1. Senate Ammendment Themes	55
Table 2. House Ammendment Themes	57
Table 3. House Hearing Analysis	59
Table 4. Codes.	60
Table 5. Public Sentiment Analysis	61

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

The system of government in the United States divides responsibilities for policymaking between the federal government and the states. Depending on the specific policy area, states will have the primary responsibility for deciding how policymakers will address key issues affecting their constituents (Gramkhar & Pickerill, 2012).

Throughout U.S. history, there has been ongoing work centered on the role that the federal government plays in the development of policies at the state level. One of the ways in which the federal government can influence the creation of policies that align with national goals is using grant programs. Through these programs, the federal government will provide funds to states in support of activities that align to its agenda, even if these areas are primarily the responsibility of state policymakers. These federal funds will be provided if states create and implement policies meeting set criteria (Manna & Ryan, 2011).

Typical grant programs require states to draft and implement policies before qualifying for any funds. The criteria used is primarily objective, meaning no judgement on the potential effectiveness of the policies are used. The federal government is concerned that the state-level initiatives are aligned with the national goals. Funds can be issued equally to each state, varied based on individual state size, or will be adjusted based on specific objective benchmarks such as time of implementation or meeting intended goals (Manna & Ryan, 2011).

The Race to the Top (RTTT) initiative was one aspect of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) of 2009. The intent of RTTT was to distribute \$4.35 billion dollars in incentives to states that implemented education reforms at the Kindergarten through 12 grade level. Any reform implemented by states needed to meet certain requirements surrounding assessment of learning and accountability. States that intended to apply for the federal grant made regulatory changes and submitted applications for funds, and the first round of awards was limited to two states—Delaware and Tennessee. Of these states, Tennessee had previously enacted policies that partially met the goals of RTTT. The grant program initiated a policymaking process intended to further develop these educational policies, which and continued the process through their application to the USDOE for RTTT funds (McGuinn, 2012).

Background

The system of government used in the United States assigns specific powers and responsibilities to states. Areas of responsibility not assigned to states are reserved to the federal branch. This division is laid out in the Constitution and has been further defined over time through debate and review by legislators and court decisions issued by the federal court system. Certain policy areas, such as education policy, are solely under state level control (Patrick, 2012). While the federal government has an interest in the overall improvement of the education of its citizens, states are responsible for designing and implementing changes to their policies.

While the federal government does not have direct control over policy decisions, it can influence the decisions made by states through the use of incentives. These incentives, usually through a grant process, provide funds to states that meet certain criteria. Historically, incentives for education reform have centered on changes states made by states to implement accountability structures, or to eliminate specific barriers citizens may face in seeking educational opportunities (McGuinn, 2012).

Problem Statement

The Race To The Top (RTTT) initiative was a key educational initiative of the Obama administration. This initiative was a push for increased educational effectiveness by states, school systems, and teachers, and shifted responsibility for enforcement towards the federal government (Boser, 2012). States wanting to apply for the grant needed to enact policies that would address achievement issues in their jurisdictions within a limited time or be eliminated from consideration. This federal push for proposals required state legislative, regulatory, and advocacy coalitions to make changes in the way they approached policy development and implementation (McGuinn, 2012). To be successful, state level coalitions could not rely on time-intensive methods to address issues in their jurisdictions.

Limited research has been conducted on how a federal initiative using a design like RTTT's would have on the policymaking coalitions that form around a specific area. These coalitions are typically stable over long periods of time and operate in a way to address issues in a way that meets the needs of constituents (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith,

1993). Due to RTTT being a recent initiative, there has been no study on how effective this process was able to improve education policy in the United States, as well as how it impacted populations that do not have the same access to those involved in the process.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study is to fill a gap in understanding about what changes to state policy advocacy coalitions were made because of the competitive design of the RTTT. Potential impacts include the ways members of existing policy coalitions interact with each other, including the potential for excluding vulnerable populations that do not have the same access to decision makers in policy decisions. This study will rely on legislative, regulatory, and related documents that were produced during the decision-making process leading to the application. Supporting information will be in the form of interviews of key actors involved in the process.

Significance of the Study

The federal initiative on the RTTT used a completely new method to entice states to act. This method relied on competitive grants, where states had to develop and implement required changes before applying to a competition-style review process.

Unlike other policy initiatives, states that applied did not have an assurance that they would qualify for funds if they made the required changes and applied by the deadline.

In previous federal policy initiatives, state policy makers had developed methods for developing state policy. With increased time to comply, actors would draw lessons from other states that have developed successful initiatives that met the goals (McGuinn,

2014). Additionally, at the state level, policymakers have developed groups of key individuals who help inform and support the development of new policies (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). The methods employed by policy makers in states would need to change to meet federal initiatives using the structure employed in RTTT.

If the structure of the RTTT initiative is used in the future, the potential for limiting access to the state level process by vulnerable groups will increase. There has been a lack of scholarly research conducted on the impact this new process has had on vulnerable populations, especially if these groups were limited in their ability to voice concerns or suggest changes in the state level policy. Understanding how the process changed the state procedures will add to the research base and allow advocates for these groups to develop strategies to have their concerns addressed if this method of federal policymaking is used again.

Research Questions

RQ1: How does the design of the Race to The Top federal policy initiative impact the actions of a policy network?

RQ2: What were the observed benefits or drawbacks to state implementation of policy because of the use of this structure of federal initiative as reported by those involved in the process?

RQ3: How does the structure of this federal policy initiative affect future initiatives and advocates for vulnerable populations?

Research Design

This study used a qualitative research design, specifically a version of the grounded theory approach. The use of a grounded theory design will enable the data collected from legislative and regulatory resources, as well as structured interviews, to generate relevant data that can be used in this study (Glaser, 2016). This design relies on constantly comparing newly collected data with previously collected items. This constant analysis will allow for the issues that are important to the individuals impacted by any changes to the state Advocacy Coalition to come to the forefront of the study.

In this study, a constructive form of grounded theory will be used. This form of grounded theory relies on an analysis of legislative and regulatory materials to shape the direction of the study (Richards & Farrokhnia, 2016). Analyzing the legislative record can provide a listing of key concepts that are important to the individuals involved in the process. This will also support the discovery of emergent themes and refinement of knowledge developed from the system (Richards & Farrokhnia, 2016). The system does not rely on a hierarchical approach, but instead allows the analyzed data to shape the direction of the research.

Analysis and substantive coding will occur throughout the data collection process. The process will first begin with open codes, organizing data as it is collected into major categories before it can be used to identify the core category (Hernandez, 2009). As new information is collected and analyzed, core categories associated with the main issue should emerge.

As these core categories emerge, the next phase of theoretical coding will begin. Data collection continues, but the initial codes and categories are organized in a way that demonstrates how they relate to each other (Glaser & Holton, 2004). It is important to remain open to new categories as additional data is added, allowing for the data to lead in the direction the study will take (Glaser & Holton, 2004).

To maintain a clear organization of the collected data, analyzed data will be summed up with memos. These memos allow the data to be sorted, organized, and maintain a clear focus on the direction of the study (Holton, 2007). These memos will be used in the theoretical coding process.

Theoretical codes will be developed, using the information collected to uncover the underlying issue that is central to the study (Holton, 2004). These codes will be able to show how the substantive codes developed previously relate to the core category of the study (Hernandez, 2009). The theoretical codes developed as a part of this design will be related to the core issue of the study and will allow the study to cover as much of the subject as possible (Glaser & Holton, 2004).

Use of publicly available legislative resources for the initial analysis improves the reliability and validity of the study (Richards & Farrokhnia, 2016). Additionally, the use of developed theoretical codes provides additional support for the relevance of the study, due to the relationship between the codes and the core issue (Glaser & Holton, 2004). This information will direct the actions taken by the researcher as the study progresses and will shape the questions as issues important to those affected emerge.

Theoretical Framework

The process of legislative and regulatory development at the state level is a complex process involving several stakeholders. Over time, individuals have attempted to study this process to determine to what degree the actions taken by these stakeholders have on the outcome (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). Due to the inherent complexity of the policy process, as well as the number of individual actors involved in the creation of polices (Fischer & Maggetti, 2016), researchers have attempted to develop systems to study the policy process.

One way to understand the policymaking process is the Advocacy Coalition

Framework (ACF). As developed by Paul Sabatier and Hank Jenkins-Smith (1993), the

ACF provides for an understanding how individuals involved in the policy process at the

state level interact during the drafting and implementation process. This approach

considers various actors at multiple levels of government and public organizations, as

well as how these ideas develop over time (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993, Cairney,

2013). By taking account of several variables, the ACF attempts to develop an

understanding on how state level policies are developed and implemented.

The goal of any policy coalition is to provide an opportunity for individuals who share a common policy belief to influence how the solution to a particular issue will be designed and implemented (Fisher & Maggetti, 2016, Matti & Sandström, 2013, Lubell, Scholz, Berardo, & Robins, 2012). The combination of individuals from multiple areas of government and the public can enable policymakers to effectively implement solutions

that meet their vision and other goals. Individually, each member of the coalition may not have enough influence or power to create solutions to issues and have the support to enact legislation. The combination of individuals into a coalition provides additional support and resources needed.

There are several key assumptions of the ACF that can help in understanding the policymaking process, which are illustrated in the critical hypotheses developed by Sabatier and Jenkins-Smith:

Advocacy Coalition Framework Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1: On Major controversies within a policy subsystem when core beliefs are in dispute, the lineup of allies and opponents tends to be rather stable over periods of a decade or so.

Hypothesis 2: Actors within an advocacy coalition will show substantial consensus on issues pertaining to the policy core, although less so secondary aspects.

Hypothesis 3: An actor (or coalition) will give up secondary aspects of a belief system before acknowledging weakness in the policy core.

Hypothesis 4: The core (basic attributes) of a governmental program is unlikely to be significantly revised as long as the subsystem advocacy coalition that instituted the program remains in power.

Hypothesis 5: The core (basic attributes) of a governmental action program is unlikely to be changed in the absence of significant perturbations external to the subsystem, that is, changes in socioeconomic conditions, system-wide governing coalitions, or policy outputs from other subsystems.

Hypothesis 6: Policy-oriented learning across belief systems is most likely when there is an intermediate level of informed conflict between the two.

- 1. Each coalition has the technical resources to engage in such a debate; and
- The conflict be between secondary aspects of one belief system and core elements of the other or, alternatively, between important secondary aspects of the two belief systems.

Hypothesis 7: Problems for which accepted quantitative data and theory exist are more conducive to policy-oriented learning than those in which data and theory are generally qualitative, quite subjective, or altogether lacking.

Hypothesis 8: Problems involving natural systems are more conducive to policy-oriented learning than those involving purely social or political systems because in the former many of the critical variables are not themselves active strategists and controlled experimentation is more feasible.

Hypothesis 9: Policy-oriented learning across belief systems is most likely when there exists a forum that is:

- Prestigious enough to force professionals from different coalitons to participate; and
- 2. Dominated by professional norms

Hypothesis 10: Elites of purposive groups are more constrained in their expression of beliefs and policy positions than elites from material groups.

Hypothesis 11: Within a coalition, administrative agencies will usually advocate more centrist positions than their interest-group allies.

Hypothesis 12: Even when the accumulation of technical information does not change the views of the opposing coalition, it can have important impacts on policy – at least in the short term – by altering the views of policy brokers or other important governmental officials. (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993)

The ACF relies on individual actors who represent varied agencies involved in the policy development process. These individuals include elected and appointed government officials, advocacy groups, interested individuals, and members of the media. These coalition members coalesce and remain stable over time by their shared common policy beliefs (Cairney, 2013, Leifeld, 2013; Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). The core beliefs that each of the members share can include an ideological or policy focus (Cairney, 2013), and provide a common ground for individual actors to work with each other.

It is important to note that the coalition that forms is specific to the core belief shared by the members. It is possible that members of an established coalition may not share beliefs outside the area and could be members of competing coalitions in other policy areas (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). When investigating the process in which a policy is developed, it is important to limit the focus to the specific core policy belief shared by all coalition members. Any areas outside of the policy area should not have an impact on the process taken on the issue being addressed.

Coalitions form based on shared core ideologies over policies rather than the perceived level of influence or power individuals may have (Matti & Sandström, 2013). Inclusion in a coalition does not rely on political power or influence within a governmental structure, instead base their formation on their shared beliefs (Leifield,

2013). In basing the structure on policy beliefs rather than implied power and influence, a coalition is able to maintain its structure over time, and can address issues that impact the core policy belief with a long-term approach.

Issues that are addressed by policy coalitions exist within the overall political environment established within the state (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). The existing environment provides coalitions a basic framework in which they can operate and attempt to implement changes (Cairney, 2013). Members of the coalitions must be cognizant of the over-all political environment to make correct decisions on how to successfully implement their version of policies. If the environment is not considered, the success of initiatives may be adversely impacted by lack of support by the pubic or others outside the established coalition.

It is also important to note that for every policy issue that is addressed, there can be several competing coalitions within the policy environment attempting to implement their solution to the issue. The coalition membership of these competitors is still based on the core policy values shared between all members (Cairney, 2013). These competing coalitions will be structured based on how they believe solutions to policy issues should be made and could be structured in a significantly different manner when compared to other groups. Regardless of structure, each competing coalition is still subject to the overall policy environment and will need to take that into account as they attempt to implement their vision for addressing issues.

The ACF relies on looking at policy changes over longer terms, such as a decade or more. This longer-term view enables each coalition to have a level of stability with regards to membership and focus on core policy initiatives (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). The stability of each coalition over time allows for individual members to be replaced with like-minded individuals as they leave their positions due to elections or retirements (Fischer & Maggetti, 2016).

For coalitions to be effective, members must be able to freely communicate with each other, and be able to articulate their beliefs to individuals outside the group (Matti & Sandström, 2013). Although policy implementation requires individuals from multiple levels of government, the key to success for a coalition is the ability to communicate freely, regardless of the perceived level of importance an individual has. This communication is vital in allowing information that is needed to make a decision to spread. Information that is generated from outside the coalition must also be disseminated among the group to allow the membership to adjust decisions accordingly. Clear communication is also vital when attempting to build support from the public. Coalition members should be able to communicate with outside individuals for the purpose of building support.

Membership into a coalition centers on a specific core policy belief (Matti & Sandström, 2013). These core beliefs allow individuals with varied backgrounds and abilities to come together and direct the creation of new policies (Lubell, Scholz, Berardo & Robins, 2012). These connections allow policy initiatives to be addressed across

multiple institutions and other venues, increasing each member's ability to influence factors that can assist with implementation (Lubell et al., 2012).

Nature of the Study

The federal government has influenced the creation of state policies in areas that are not constitutionally assigned to it. The main mechanism used to exert this influence has been grant programs to states that implement changes the federal government sees as beneficial. While the traditional form that these grants have taken allows state policymakers to have time to thoughtfully develop and implement changes, the RTTT initiative significantly changed the way these officials needed to address required changes (Manna & Ryan, 2011). The most significant change was the need to implement changed regulations with no guarantee of meeting the grant criteria. The strict timeline for implementing new policies before application eliminated the traditional ways states have qualified for federal grants.

Sabatier and Jenkins-Smith's (1993) Advocacy Coalition Framework (ACF) enables researchers to examine how state-level policies are developed and implemented. Established groups of lawmakers, regulatory personnel, and advocates form around a central core belief that drives the development of new policies. Any new initiative will involve these individuals, allowing for their various levels of expertise to be used as a new policy is drafted and approved. In addition, these individuals will utilize their professional networks of other policy officials in other states to inform their own policy development. States that have less resources available to take the lead on new policies

will rely on others to be first, using the lessons they learned in the drafting of new policies.

With RTTT, the timeline was compressed, eliminating the ability for states to wait for others to take a lead role. Each state attempting to apply for the grant would need to be able to move quickly on their own, prepared for the possibility that the new initiatives may not lead to a disbursal of new funds (McGuinn, 2012). The changes required may impact the decision-making process of the coalition members, as well as change the level of involvement individual members have in the process. These changes may limit the level of input some members have had in the past, limiting the level of influence groups who would feel the most impact from the new policies on their creation.

Elected Membership

One of the most visible membership positions in any coalition group are elected officials. These individuals hold positions in state governments and are directly impacted by the desires of the electorate. These positions in a coalition are responsible for introducing legislation that is directly responsive to the issue that needs to be addressed (Mahoney & Baumgartner, 2015). Elected members of a coalition will be the named individual(s) on any legislation, and the results may have an impact on their prospects for holding their office.

An additional role these individuals play is that of overseeing and directing major parts of the bureaucratic process (Palus & Yackee, 2012). They can direct resources and influence actions of other members of the coalition. This ability allows for areas of

interest to get more attention over others, allowing for personal interests to become a part of the policy process.

Elected officials, in addition to their leadership position, may also fill a partial advocacy role in policy development. Their public position enables these members to use the access to media to introduce their positions to the public (Mahoney & Baumgartner, 2015). Depending on the type of access that exists to media and the receptiveness of the public, elected officials can develop a level of support from the public, increasing the likelihood of a policy's success.

One last area that elected officials fill is one that relies on continuity. Elected officials will direct legislation through the process, but that have been designed with pieces that have been implemented in the past (Klüver, Braun & Beyers, 2015). This viewpoint that elected official have is important for two reasons. First, any legislation must be able to fit with current policies. Any new legislation that does not runs the risk of being unsuccessful during the adoptions process or could be overturned on technicalities later. Second, new legislation will either build on past successful initiatives, or will be designed to correct those policies that have failed over time. Elected officials are ultimately responsible for the success of new pieces of legislation and maintain this knowledge of past work is important as new items are introduced.

Regulatory Personnel

Regulatory personnel maintain a unique position within an advocacy coalition.

These individuals are either appointed by elected officials or have obtained their positions

through the regular hiring process. Individuals in regulatory organizations typically have a set of technical knowledge obtained in prior positions or education (Palus & Yackee, 2012). These regulatory personnel who are members of advocacy coalitions can use this knowledge in various ways.

One way in which regulatory personnel can be used by elected officials is to conduct research into specific issues (Moreland-Russell, Barbero, Andersen, Geary, Dodson, & Brownson, 2015). These individuals can use their unique perspective on a subject to provide elected members of the coalition with the tools they need to make decisions (Moreland-Russell et al., 2015). Depending on the knowledge of elected members of the coalition, the beliefs of these specific actors can be transferred through this reliance on their knowledge of the subject.

In addition to the information delivery and research role they fill in for elected officials, regulatory personnel may also serve other members of the coalition by transferring information between different groups within the coalition. The technical knowledge of these individuals provides them the opportunity to come into regular contact with other potential members of a coalition. Through these contacts, regulatory personnel can relay information between these members, which may provide for a broad dissemination of ideas across the coalition (Palus & Yackee, 2012). This access may allow other areas of the coalition to influence each other, as well as build support for specific policy initiatives.

The role of actors in a regulatory position also includes the oversight of the process after legislative adoption. Once passed, regulatory personnel are responsible for drafting and implementing legislative decisions in the form of regulations. The role of the regulator in this part of the process ensures that the intended goals of the initiative are attainable by maintaining control of the rulemaking process (Palus & Yackee, 2012). Regulatory personnel understand how their state's process for rulemaking is conducted and can ensure that the intended outcomes of the policy initiative are reached by following the proper procedures.

Advocacy Groups

The advocacy position in any coalition may be filled by any number of groups.

These individuals may be interest groups with an economic interest in a policy.

Additionally, non-government related individuals with technical expertise can also join a coalition in this role. Finally, concerned individuals not associated with any organized group may act in the role of advocate based on their personal beliefs on a subject (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993).

The advocate position within a coalition may play an important role in the development of new policies. Due to their varied backgrounds, these individuals may be able to overcome objections from opposing forces in government and the general population (McGuinn, 2012a; Balla, 2014). These individuals may also have a level of technical expertise on the subject and can speak to others without the potential pushback on the information if it had come from a governmental official.

The position of these individuals may be used by other members of the coalition to gain access to populations previously unattainable (Scott & Jabbar, 2014). Objections by non-elected individuals may be overcome if the information is relayed by individuals that do not appear to have a political bias or agenda. Additionally, if a coalition member in the position of advocate has access to media resources, the information about the intended effect of the policy initiative can be spread over a wider audience.

As with members of the regulatory group, individuals in the advocate role may have some level of technical expertise in the subject. These individuals can provide justification and support for the policy initiatives by developing independent data used in discussions (McDonnell, 2013). This information is used by elected officials and public facing advocates to frame the arguments used to justify any proposed changes.

Additionally, these coalition members can be utilized by organizing public campaigns to develop support for the initiative (McGuinn. 2012a). The combination of their expertise and lack of overt political agenda enables these individuals to have credibility with the public when voicing their support for new policies.

Variations and Issues

The information presented above represents the typical features of members of an advocacy coalition as presented by Sabatier and Jenkins Smith (1993). It is important to note that there can be slight variations in the roles each group fulfils within the coalition, which can have an impact on the overall success and final design of any policy initiative.

One key area that impacts how effective an advocacy coalition will be regarding a policy initiative is the level of experience each member has. Over time, members may leave the coalition due to the loss of elections or retirements. New members can join as time progresses, but the level of expertise they may bring could be different than those who are replaced (Elgin & Weible, 2013). Loss of individuals may result in changes to the technical expertise or political influence the coalition may have. Additionally, the credibility of newer members may be questioned depending on the perception of the public. Finally, changes in the coalition membership may introduce new directions for the policy initiative based on the opinions of these newer members.

Advocacy coalitions are made up of various individuals from different areas.

Although they share a common core belief, it is possible that the success of any policy initiative can be impacted by the lack of an identified leader who directs the actions of the coalition (Matti & Sandström, 2013). The ultimate result of any policy initiative may be impacted by personal or organizations priorities introduced through the actions of coalition members. For example, regulatory officials may take a more moderate approach toward policy development due to their role in the rulemaking process (Leifeld, 2013).

While other members may push for radical changes to policies, the ultimate result may be an incremental change or compromised position.

Definitions

Advocacy Coalition Framework (ACF): The Advocacy Coalition Framework is a description of a group of individuals formed around a specific issue who can impact the

direction of state-level legislation and regulations. These individuals include elected officials, appointed members of government agencies, and private citizens who can provide external advocacy and influence on the policymaking process. The ACF provides a mechanism in which those involved can communicate clearly across the various discipline areas (Jenkins-Smith, Nohrstedt, Weible, & Sabatier, 2014).

Race to the Top (RTTT): The Race to the Top program is a competitive grant program designed to entice states to engage in reforming their K-12 education systems.

RTTT was a part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and awarded states a portion of a \$4.4 billion grant based on submissions after implementing reforms.

First to the Top (FTTT): First to the Top is the name given to Tennessee's efforts to qualify for Race to the Top grant funds.

No Child Left Behind (NCLB): The No Child Left Behind act of 2001 is the name of the reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). The purpose of NCLB was to support state K-12 educational reform efforts using high standards and objective goals.

Policy transfer: Policy transfer describes the ways in which states learn from other jurisdictions in developing and implementing their own policies.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Scope

Assumptions

The intent of this study is to analyze the impact coercive federal incentives have on state-level policy networks. The sources for this study include official policy

documents, advocacy materials, and interviews of network members familiar with the adoption of Race To The Top compliant policies in Tennessee. These sources will be used in the analysis of the impacts to the state policy coalition.

Documentary source materials are readily available to the public through official governmental sources. Focus will be needed on securing participants to be interviewed. Once scheduled, it is assumed that interview subjects will want to participate and will have personal recollections of the period they were involved in the policy process. Additionally, it is assumed that participants will respond to the interview questions in an honest manner, providing an accurate description of what they viewed during that time. The purpose of the study is not intended to single out any individual in a negative light and is designed to determine how external forces changed the interactions between coalition members.

Delimitations and Scope

This study will be delimited by examining official policy documents connected with the education policy adoption in the state of Tennessee. In addition, supporting advocacy documents will also be included to determine how those items may have impacted members of the state policy network. Finally, interviews with individuals identified as members of the state policy network will be conducted; the results will be compared to the analyzed documents to determine what effect coercive federal incentives had on the state policy process.

Limitations

This study is based on the impacts the coercive incentives used by the federal government had on an existing state-level policy coalition addressing education issues. The study will rely on documentation and interview responses to generate information that can be analyzed to determine any potential effects on the process used by the participants.

Documentation on what was developed is readily available through multiple sources. However, part of this study will rely on having access to individuals involved with the process. While many of the individuals who participated in the process leading up to the Race to the Top application are still members of the Tennessee state legislature and other agencies, these people may not agree to be interviewed for this study. Reasons for this could include lack of time in their schedule, low interest in the potential results of the study, or limited recollection of what happened during the time these policies and regulations were being developed.

An additional limitation is centered on the policy area that is the focus of this study. The research is focused on the impacts coercive federal initiatives have on state-level education policy. While all states will need to address issues surrounding education, the way coalitions formed around other areas may not have the same reactions to federal incentives. Further studies into other jurisdictions and other policy areas may extend this research into these other areas.

One final limitation is the willingness for individuals to participate in this study as secondary sources. Individuals who were involved in the process may have limited recollection of the process or could have other reasons to decide not to participate.

Significance

In this study, the level of influence that the federal government has over state policy creation is one area that is significant. While the federal government cannot directly control areas that are primarily under state control, the use of grant program is an attempt to entice states to implement policies that align with national initiatives. States have established processes in which new policies can be implemented and have shown to be successful when responding to normal federal grant proposals. The Race to the Top proposal instituted changes to the process, both in the time needed to adopt new policies, and eliminated any guarantee that adoption of new policies would result in winning grant money. Understanding how the state policy system changed as a result of this process will allow for a better understanding on what areas would need to be addressed in order to ensure all individuals impacted by the initiative can remain involved in the creation. This is especially important if the federal government chooses to use a grant proposal like the Race to the Top design in the future.

Summary

In this chapter, an introduction to the problem was introduced. Additionally, background information on the issue being researched was presented. The theoretical framework that will guide the study was also introduced, as well as descriptions of any

assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and scope. A list of definitions for key terms was provided, and a brief explanation of the study's significance was provided.

In the next chapter, a review of pertinent literature will be presented. This will include additional information on the Advocacy Coalition Framework, the methods states employ when developing and implementing new policies, and roles that individuals involved in the process will fill. Chapter 3 will describe the research methods that will be used in the study. Additionally, this chapter will describe the sources of data that will be used, and their importance to the study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Search Strategy

For this study, various databases and sources of information were accessed to collect relevant scholarly research, legislative and regulatory documents and data, as well as advocacy information developed for public consumption. Due to the subject matter of this study, databases used included both public policy and administration, as well as education databases. These databases included Political Science Complete, Political Science: a Sage Full-Text Collection, ProQuest Central, ERIC, and Academic Search Complete. Additional research on this topic was conducted using the ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. Finally, state legislative archives were used to collect information on legislation and regulations developed during the RTTT process.

To conduct the search of the literature, the various terms were used depending on the type of information being sought. In education databases, terms used included Race to the Top, No Child Left Behind, school improvement, and federal education policy. These terms were used in combination with the date slider to limit information to specific policy initiatives as well as providing an opportunity to demonstrate historical initiatives to place the Race to the Top initiative in perspective with past reform efforts.

Terms that centered on the existing systems for state-level policy development included Advocacy Coalition Framework, advocacy coalitions, Sabatier, and policy advocates. These terms were used primarily in the policy databases to collect information on how the Advocacy Policy Framework (ACF) has been applied in past state-level

initiatives. Specific focus on how the interactions between individual members of the coalition occur and possibly change as the process continues.

This study attempts to understand the impact that a competitive federal grant program has on existing state-level policy coalitions. The RTTT initiative will allow for an examination on how established coalitions consisting of elected officials, appointed regulatory personnel, advocacy groups, and interested parties changed the way they interacted with each other in order to qualify for entry into the competition. If a competitive grant program is used in the future, adverse impacts that result from these changes, including the exclusion of groups with limited access to policymakers, can be accounted for and addressed.

The Advocacy Coalition Framework

Advocacy coalitions are defined as a group of individuals that coalesce over a shared belief in order to implement policies (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). These groups are made up of a number of individuals representing various areas. Politicians, individuals working in governmental agencies, lobbyists, members of the media, and concerned citizens can form these coalitions. Each member attempts to influence the creation of policies with individuals who share similar beliefs and have the ability to implement changes (Edler & James, 2015; Matti & Sandström, 2013,). Individuals who do not have the ability to make these changes on their own work within the context of a coalition that includes individuals with abilities or governmental positions that allow policies to be altered.

Coalitions will form over time around a core issue that is shared by all members (Geels & Penna, 2015). This shared issue becomes the binding issue that enables individuals to pool their resources and abilities to make incremental changes over time. These issues require solutions that take many incremental changes. Actors that make up the coalition tend to be stable, especially those that have positions with the access for implementing changes (Nowlin, 2011).

It is important to note that coalition members may or may not agree on all areas of policy (Matti & Sandström, 2013). Any review of a specific advocacy coalition must be limited to a specific core belief. Coalition actors that agree on a specific policy issue may not agree in other areas (Nowlin, 2011). Variations in each individual's core policy beliefs do not impact the overall effectiveness of the coalition that is formed. Individual actors within a policy group have the goal to solve the specific issues facing the core belief.

Maintaining a focus on a specific policy issue will allow the coalition's structure and coordination system to be studied (Elgin & Weible, 2013). Viewing coalitions within the context of a specific policy issue enables a study of the ways in which individuals interact with each other. Specific focus can be made on the roles each member takes within the coalition and how this may change over time. In cases where unique issues are being addressed, changes that occur in the coalition with regard to overall makeup can be viewed.

Coalition Membership

As stated previously, state-level policy coalitions are formed with individuals who fill various roles related to governance. Formation of a coalition will occur as individuals who share policy beliefs interact with each other during the regular policy development process (Weible, Sabatier, & McQueen, 2009). These individuals fill roles within the coalition that serve to push forward policies that support their common vision. Stability of the coalition relies on the shared core beliefs of members. New members are added to the coalition over time, and reinforce the overall stability of the group due to their shared policy beliefs.

Within any coalition, individuals will serve in roles that are designed to effectively implement policy changes aligned with the group's core policy beliefs. Roles of members will depend on the level of expertise they have in both the subject area (Elgin & Weible, 2013) as well as the process that is used in implementing policy change (Olsson, 2009). Experience is required in both areas to better navigate any potential issues that could hold up or divert the process.

In addition to knowledge and positional roles, coalition members may be viewed in roles based on other areas such as strategy, resources, and political environment (Olsson, 2009). These outside forces may change the level of involvement a particular coalition member may have in policy implementation. Coordination between members of the coalition will determine how the group will deploy each actor as the initiative progresses in the process.

Key to a coalition's effectiveness is the ability for members to share knowledge through the various levels (Elgin & Weible, 2013). Members must be able to spread information through multiple channels in order to remain unified in their presentation of a policy solution (Adshead, 2011; Mahoney, 2007). Transfer of knowledge enables all coalition members to make decision within their area of control that are in line with the core policy beliefs, as well as sustain the coalition's structure.

Coalitions also rely on individuals who work in areas outside of government.

These individuals may serve as subject experts, journalists, concerned citizens, or interest group lobbyists who interact with elected and appointed officials. These actors may provide key information on the subject area (Elgin & Weible, 2013), enabling regulatory personnel to move legislation and regulations forward.

Nongovernment actors can also be used by the other areas of a coalition to build or gauge support for a particular initiative. These advocate actors provide elected officials information on how much support a particular initiative may have within the community they serve (Mahoney, 2009). This support may direct officials to make necessary changes to a policy to make it more effective or to gain needed support by constituents. In areas where elected officials need support from a community in order to remain in office, this information can be used to adjust the implementation schedule of an initiative.

Actors in the advocate position can also be used to spread information supporting an initiative throughout a community. These individuals already have an interest in the policy area the coalition has a focus on. Since these members have a voice within their

respective community, they are able to spread information in the hope that support for the initiative can be increased.

Mechanisms of Policy Transfer

The federal system of government in the United states utilizes a decentralized system of control over policy areas not included in the Constitution (Adler, 2012). In the United States, policy development at the state level will involve a number of entities. These groups will be made up of individuals who have an interest in the subject being discussed, as well as having knowledge and skills in the area that can be used in an attempt to secure successful implementation. These individuals will make up the bulk of advocacy coalitions based on their deeply held core beliefs (Cairney, 2015).

While policymakers have an understanding of how regulations and legislation is crafted, the ideas on how to best address issues may not be as evident. In most cases, states will rely on the work other jurisdictions have completed in order to guide and inform their own work (Dolowitz & Marsh, 2000). Effectiveness of the adoption of polices will rely on the size and power that each jurisdictional group has over their process (Füglister, 2012). Additionally, various groups working within states will attempt to become involved in the policy process to ensure aspects of their agenda are addressed (Lubell, 2015). The transfer of policy language and ideas across state lines can be vital to states attempting to address similar problems in a timely manner.

Policies will spread across state lines as needed, with the receiving jurisdictions seeking to find solutions to similar issues. Additionally, states that are located in the same

region may be forced to adopt policies to gain or maintain a competitive advantage for resources or citizens (Baybeck, Berry, & Siegel, 2011). States may also attempt to influence regional neighbors to act in policy areas in order to gain influence through the spread of their specific policy solutions (Neumayer & Plümper, 2012). Diffusion in these cases becomes a series of reactions between states to maintain economic or quality of life balance within the region.

While competition between states may be a compelling factor in diffusion of policies, there can be some external factors that adjust the effectiveness of implementation. States that have other jurisdictions bordering it on multiple sides may need to balance their implementation of policies (Obinger & Schmitt, 2013). These states may only see a completion for resources in a targeted area, and may not need to adopt solutions that only work for a specific group.

Competition with neighboring jurisdictions might be a compelling reason for a state to attempt policy adoption, but internal issues must also be considered. States must remain cognizant of their own constituents when developing policies in reaction to external trends (Pacheo, 2012). Policy makers must be responsive to the needs of citizens within their state, and take their individual needs and desires into account (Kim & Schachter, 2013). Decisions made by policy officials have impacts on citizens, who can hold them accountable through the election process if they feel they have not been heard.

While citizens have their own feelings regarding policy direction, they can also be affected by the competitive nature of neighboring states (Pacheo, 2012). Citizens within a

jurisdiction may feel the same pressures to spend their time and resources in other states if they feel there are significant benefits for doing so. Policies in neighboring jurisdictions may develop a desire to implement similar policies in their home state (Lubell, et al, 2011). Residents can place pressure on their home state policy makers to begin the development process in their area.

State policy actors may learn of policy initiatives from other jurisdictions through their professional connections and networks they have developed. These networks can be created through involvement in professional associations or other groups of like-minded individuals. Connections made between these individuals enable information to be freely shared among states, especially across regional lines (Walker, Avellaneda, & Berry, 2011). The shared interest in similar policy areas permits the transfer of information.

State-level coalition members will utilize their professional networks they have developed over time to learn how other regions are attempting to address issues (Starke, 2013). Jurisdictions with more resources available to them may be able to develop solutions earlier than most. These early adoption states are able to conduct the initial stages of research that inform policy development, and are used to evaluate the potential success of solutions.

Regardless of the way in which interest in a policy initiative has been raised, policy makers will need to remain aware of any variations that need to be developed before implementation. Variations in the make-up of citizen demographics, as well as economic and environmental differences will need to be addressed in any policy initiative

that is developed (Pampel & Hunter, 2012). This can be achieved by involving citizens to have a voice in the development process (Rhodes, 2015), as well as maintaining a relationship with constituents to understand their specific needs.

In addition to the demographic variations that may exist in their state, transferred polices transferred from elsewhere can be impacted by the specific ideologies of the individuals in positions of authority. Chief administrators, legislators, and appointed officials may focus on their specific ideological views when making decisions on how to proceed with an initiative (Whitaker, Herian, Larimer, & Lang, 2012). It is possible that these ideological beliefs may have an impact on the ultimate form the new policy takes upon adoption. While officials may have strong political beliefs, keeping mind of the pressures placed on them by their constituents is important to remain in their positions (Whitaker et al., 2012). Officials must remain responsive to those individuals who have the ability to enact changes to their positions (Pacheco, 2012).

Policy Development in the Advocacy Coalition Framework

Traditional methods used to study state-level policy development focus on how individual members or groups impact the way initiatives are created and implemented. Elected officials or state regulatory bodies may rely on procedures and rules as a way to evolve polices over time (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). Advocacy organization may apply pressure on elected and appointed government officials to implement new policies based on what they have observed in other jurisdictions (Pacheo, 2012). In addition, identifying the social and economic environmental factors that could force a state to act

may also be used (Prince, 2012). These individual parts may not provide a full understanding of how a state responds to issues requiring policy changes.

The ACF combines these variables in a way that allows for a deeper understanding of the process. This also allows for observations over a long period of time, showing how policies grow (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). Additionally, the ACF expands the number of individuals who have an impact on the process to anyone who shares similar core beliefs (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993). Viewing policy decision in this way allows those studying the policy process to account for and explain how the final implemented initiative was developed.

The development of policies at the state level will require a high level of communication and coordination among all individuals involved. Jurisdictions that have addressed an issue in the past may have different political structures and economic variables than those addressing the same issue later. Policy makers involved in the process must keep these variations among jurisdictions in mind as they go through the development process (Gupta, 2012). This may also impact the actions policymakers will take associated with the development process, making minor adjustments over long periods of time to help direct public sentiment toward their intended goals (Geels & Penna, 2015). These variations, and adjusting the implementation strategy as a result of these variations, will help with building support for a solution.

Part of the review of jurisdictional variations includes understanding what resources are available to policymakers. The existing networks of policy actors will affect

the resources available to assist with the development of a solution (Lubell, Scholz, Berardo, & Robins, 2012). Networks will also have an impact on the direction that policymakers will take in addressing issues through the influence they have developed over time (Elgin & Weible, 2013). The ultimate direction that a state will take will depend on how these variables are able to interact with each other.

While individuals connected to policy networks will have significant control over the direction development will take, network actors and surrogates will need to be aware of the influence those not associated with the network may have. These nonaffiliated individuals may not be attached to any policy network, but could influence the overall direction that is taken through actions aligned with their own self-interests (Ljubownikow & Crotty, 2015). These individuals may have influence over members of the network, or could rally support of others to place pressure on network actors (Ljubownikow & Crotty, 2015). Individuals in the policy process will need to be sensitive to the potential that these individuals may exist, and not only be working to counteract competing coalitions.

The interaction of these variables will depend on how well network actors are able to navigate their interactions with each other. Network actors must have developed the capacity to have these resources available for use, and have developed strong relationships with other policy actors to be able to work with them toward addressing a policy issue (Elgin & Weible, 2013). Individuals may also use their influence to exploit deficiencies that exist in competing policy networks (Elgin & Weible, 2013). Effective

policy adoption will require actors to work not only with individuals they are collaborating with, but also counteract competing coalitions addressing the same issue.

Policy networks will need to build support from their constituents if their solution is to be accepted for the long term. Network actors will need to win the support of their constituencies by demonstrating how the proposed solution will have a positive impact on their lives (Parsons, 2015). This is especially true if policymakers and their surrogates demonstrate how the new policies align with currently accepted beliefs (Eising, Rash, & Rozbicka, 2015), or demonstrate the potential positive or negative consequences for choosing a particular solution (Klüver et al., 2015). Gaining support of individuals outside of the existing policy network is important for adoption of the preferred solution.

Summary and Conclusions

This review of literature provides the background of past research that has been developed around the ACF that is used in this study. Additionally, the literature review also provides a brief overview of the key methods state legislative and regulatory personnel use while creating new policies.

As defined by Sabatier and Jenkins-Smith (1993), the ACF is an organization that forms over time among policymakers. This organization tends to remain stable, with minor changes occurring as members leave their positions due to normal attrition or through the election process. New individuals will be attracted to the coalition, and other existing members will be elevated into more influential positions.

Members of a coalition are attracted to become associated to it through a shared common belief (Geels & Pena, 2005). This common core belief acts as the central structure that guides the actions of all members. It is also important to understand that this belief is unique to the specific coalition that is formed. Members of a structure may have divergent beliefs in other policy areas and can be members of different coalitions addressing those topics (Matti & Sandström, 2013). Using the ACF to study the policy development process must be limited to the specific area being addressed, not the overall ideological beliefs of the membership.

States also employ several techniques while creating new policies. Due to limited resources or knowledge on the subject, a state may look to other jurisdictions who have taken a lead role in addressing the issues to inform how best to proceed (Dolowitz & Marsh, 2000). States can either copy what previous ones have implemented, or draft their own version using the lessons those states have learned to implement a unique version tailored to the needs of its citizens. These receiving states rely on the resources of the early adopting states before making their attempts at policy adoption.

States located in the same region of the country may also adopt rules based on the need to compete for the same resources (Baybeck et al., 2011). Policies adopted in this manner are used to attract resources such as business or jobs to a state. This is especially true if neighboring states have significant populations located near each other. A state may implement policies that are designed to attract this activity to their jurisdiction or

may design a policy in reaction to a neighboring state to defend against the loss of these revenues.

In Chapter 3, the research methods for reviewing how coercive federal grants impact existing state policy development structures. Due to the unique nature of this type of federal grant design, there is limited information on possible changes this design had on the traditional process.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative study is to fill a gap in understanding about what changes to state policy advocacy coalitions were made because of the competitive design of the RTTT. Potential impacts include the ways existing coalitions interact with each other, including the potential for excluding vulnerable populations that do not have the same access to decision makers in policy decisions. This study will rely on legislative, regulatory, and related documents that were produced during the decision-making process leading to the application. Supporting information will be in the form of interviews of key actors from states, including legislators or other members of state coalitions involved in the process.

Research Design and Rationale

Research Questions

RQ1: How does the design of the Race to The Top federal policy initiative impact the actions of a policy network?

RQ2: What were the observed benefits or drawbacks to state implementation of policy because of the use of this structure of federal initiative as reported by those involved in the process?

RQ3: How does the structure of this federal policy initiative affect future initiatives and advocates for vulnerable populations?

Role of Researcher

This study relies on the researcher to act as an observer to the policy development process at the state level. The collection of data that will be used for this study includes official documents created by state legislative bodies, advocacy groups, and other official outlets. Additionally, qualitative interviews will be conducted with key individuals involved in the policy process. The recollections of these individuals may be able to provide additional information on how the interactions between the key groups may or may not have changed during the implementation of education reforms for the RTTT initiative.

This study is not conducted in work environment of this researcher. Additionally, the author has no affiliations or involvement in any agencies associated with the participants of this study. No incentives have been offered to interview subjects for their participation.

Methodology

The Walden University Institutional Review Board approval number for this study is 11-13-18-0297704.

The primary source of data will be official documents generated during the time states were developing policies to meet the RTTT initiative. Specifically, the focus will be placed on the process employed in Tennessee. These documents will include drafts and amendments to state legislation, committee meeting transcripts, fiscal notes, and testimony at any public hearing. Additional information will include position statements

and publications from nongovernment individuals who sought to have influence over the direction the state level process would take.

As stated above, the primary documents used will be the final legislative and regulatory records that enabled the various initiatives to be implemented. These documents will show how the state attempted to change the structure of their educational system to improve the chances the RTTT application would be successful. The federal initiative required applications to have structures in place that would have a positive impact on the key areas for improvement.

The use of official state government documents, such as hearing transcripts and amended drafts will also be important to the analysis. Focus will be placed on looking at what changes were made or proposed in each version of the bill or regulation. These changes will be important in understanding what the intent of the authors was at the time (Coffey, 2014). Subsequent versions of these documents may be able to show any structural changes, or changes in the control of the policy coalition as the development progressed.

Collection of documents outside of the official government record will also be useful in understanding the structure of the policy coalition during this process. Articles and advocacy group documents, both for and against the changes being made, may provide additional opportunities to view the intent of those involved in the process.

Specific attention will be focused on which individuals are associated with these documents, and changes to the language used in these items as the adoption process

continued. The changes in the language over time may allow for an analysis of the intent of individuals involved in the process, but who may not be part of the official record (Coffey, 2014). While the official government documents will use structured language appropriate for government operations, records collected from outside state government structures may provide insight into the thought process and intentions of those involved.

Open-ended interviews with individuals identified as members of a traditional education policy coalition at the state level will also be conducted. The purpose of these interviews will be to collect information on how the process to address the Race to the Top initiative differed from previous processes. There will be a focus on how each subject perceived change that occurred between members of the established policy coalition network. In addition, the interview will look to see if the RTTT initiative forced existing coalitions to seek out potential new members, and how these newer members changed the way the coalition operates.

An open-ended interview will be employed to allow for the maximum amount of information to be collected from individuals. The design can also account for multiple interpretations of what was occurring during the time policies were being developed (Miczo, 2003). This study has a focus on how the existing policy development structure changed because of the federal initiative, so allowing for the subjects to relay their perceptions of what occurred at the time is important during analysis.

Open-ended interviews also allow for the building of trust between the researcher and subjects. The interview subject, if allowed to relay information they feel is important,

can help begin to build a rapport with the interviewer (Miczo, 2003). This rapport can lead to a more detailed record of the time and could reveal details that may not have been expected in the planning stage. Interviews with subjects should be conducted until the data collected is felt to be accurate (Morse & Maddox, 2014).

Issues of Trustworthiness

This study relies on data that is collected from public and governmental sources. The intent is to collect all available sources of information that was created during the time state legislation to support RTTT was being developed. Since this information is part of the public record, it is available to any interested parties interested in the subject. Additional information will be collected from individuals who participated in the lawmaking process during that period. This information will be used to corroborate the public records, as well as add any information that could be important to understand the changes that may have occurred in the policy coalition during that time.

All documents collected will be uploaded into the NVivo qualitative software for analysis. Documentary evidence collected for use in this study will be organized as either a primary or secondary source. Primary sources, which include documents produced by policymakers involved in the process, provide a direct account of what was taking place during the development on new rules (Mogalakwe, 2009). Secondary sources provide information developed by individuals watching and reacting to the policymaking process, but who did not have direct access to those involved. This information can provide

insights on how adoption of new policies impacted those living in the area at the time (Mogalakwe, 2009).

Within each category, documents in the primary category will be further organized by placing each item into a specific type: legislative record, public advocacy document, or interview transcripts. The legislative and public advocacy records will have sub-categories associated with each. Legislative records can be divided into hearing transcripts, drafts and amendments, and final documents. Advocacy documents will be categorized by positive and negative support for the initiative, and then will be grouped by the type of individual providing the documentation.

Interviews of key individuals who were involved in the legislative and regulatory development process at the state level will also be conducted. These interviews will focus on what changes to the existing policy development process occurred during the development of the Race to the Top legislation. This includes any pressures individuals felt because of the incentives the federal legislation presented on the state-based individuals during the process. Interview subjects will be asked to recall how the process changed from previous initiatives they were involved in.

Ethical Considerations

The primary sources of data are available from the Tennessee State legislature archives. These primary documents were downloaded from the publicly available online archives. The Tennessee archive includes all versions of the legislation, including the minutes from various committee meetings. These supporting documents were also

collected from the archives. All documents ate the official records provided to the public by the Tennessee legislature, and are an accurate record of the policy development process.

Due to the public nature of these documents, there is no need to ask for permission to access and use the information. This information is free to use and clear of any issue concerning copyright issues.

Secondary sources of information will include interviews with key individuals that were involved in the development of the policies in Tennessee. These interviews will be structured to ask participants about their memories of the time that this legislation was being developed. Specifically, interview participants will be asked about any changes to the typical process they have used to develop legislation, especially anything that they feel would have been related to pressure to submit the proposal to meet the Race to the Top deadline.

Participants in the interview process will be solicited based on their involvement in the policy development process. Interview subjects will only be invited after completing all university approvals. Individuals who agree to participate will be given the opportunity to receive a transcript of their responses, as well as a copy of any results of the study.

This study is looking at the impacts coercive federal grants may have on state level policy development. As the researcher, one of the roles I must take in the study is to make sure it is reliable, verifiable, and valid. I have proposed to use a constructive form

of grounded theory. This form will allow the primary and secondary sources of information to shape the direction the study will take. The documents and interviews will be coded and analyzed using the qualitative software NVivo. This software will allow for important issues and themes to become apparent as the study progresses. Additionally, a list of key words and themes will be produced and made available, allowing for the study to be replicated later.

Summary

This study is focused on the impacts a coercive federal incentive has on existing state-level policy groups. Choosing one of the initial winning states that had a documented history of education regulatory reforms will be used to identify any potential changes to the relationships within the established network of policymakers traditionally involved in the process.

This study will use a combination of document reviews and key interviews with those involved in the regulatory process. Primary documentation will include a review of all proposed regulations associated with the Race to the Top application, including all prior versions and any supporting documents (hearing transcripts, financial impact statements, floor discussions). Secondary documentation, both in support and against the proposed measures, will be included to determine if any changes to the normal interaction between policy network actors occurred. Interviews of key individuals will be conducted to provide additional insight into what changes may have occurred at the time. All

documentation, including interview transcripts, will be uploaded, and coded using a qualitative software package.

Chapter 4: Results

This chapter presents the analysis of data collected in support of this study. The data consists of publicly available legislative documents (draft bills, amendments, hearing testimony), articles from external sources in support or against the initiative, and qualitative interviews conducted with legislators involved in the process of drafting the language. Legislative records were collected from the state of Tennessee General Assembly's Legislation website. This site also identified key legislators who could be interviewed regarding the policy development process. External documents were identified by searching news sites and through information provided in the qualitative interviews. The information gathered was organized in a qualitative analysis program.

Settings

As stated previously, the legislative documents used for this study were collected from the State of Tennessee General Assembly's Legislation website. This site provides access to the final enacted bills in previous session. Additionally, this site provides a chronological record of all amendments made to bills, as well as a record of each amendment's passage by each side of the General Assembly. Please see Appendix A for a list of the legislative documents used for this study. The site also provides access to testimony during committee meetings where bills are discussed. This site is available to the public and is searchable by bill name or citation.

Key legislators were identified using the General Assembly's website. Individuals listed as sponsors or cosponsors of the FTTT legislation were selected based on their

prior involvement in education related initiatives in Tennessee. Invitations were mailed to individuals, with an email sent as a follow up a few weeks later. These invitations were sent throughout 2019. Interviews began in January 2019.

Other documents related to this initiative were identified by doing a search of education advocacy websites, news organization, and through suggestions by the interview subjects.

Data: Legislative Documents

The documents collected from the General Assembly were organized by chamber

– Senate and House. The documents included the initial language, amendments, and the

final enacted bill. The documents collected were downloaded in PDF format and saved to
a protected folder on a computer with password protection.

Data: Legislative Hearings

Recordings of various hearings held regarding the First to the Top legislation were obtained from the General Assembly website. These recordings are video archives recorded during the initial work on the house version of the bill and subsequent amendments. These recordings were transcribed into text and uploaded into the NVivo program for analysis. Hearings included information and debate from legislators, staff from the Tennessee education department, and individuals representing various interest groups.

Data: Public-Facing Documents

Information was collected from publicly available sources for inclusion in this study. These items included news articles, archived websites, and other information developed at the time the FTTT legislation was introduced. Sources of these documents were primarily interest groups such as the Tennessee teacher associations, journalists, and other education advocacy groups. There were no items found from parent or student advocacy organizations that fell into this category.

Data: Interviews

For a secondary source of information, I attempted to conduct interviews with individuals identified as being involved in the policy development process for this initiative. The initial research identified 30-40 individuals with some involvement in the First to the Top process, which included elected officials, staff members from state agencies, and educational experts. Outreach was conducted to these individuals, however, only one person agreed to be interviewed for this study. All other potential subjects did not agree to participate or did not respond to the invitation to participate.

The subject who agreed to participate is an elected official in the Tennessee

General Assembly and has extensive knowledge of the policy making process in the state.

This included information specific to the process during the time FTTT was being developed. The interview was conducted over the phone based on the preference of the individual. This conversation was recorded and was transcribed using the Otter

Transcription software. The transcription was reviewed against the recording to check for

any errors, and a copy of the transcriptions was sent to the subject for their final review. I also provided the subject the opportunity to add to their responses if they had additional information to provide. Once the transcript of the interview was approved, it was converted to a PDF document and saved in a protected folder on a password-protected computer.

Data Analysis

Document Analysis Process

Any information from an audio or video source was converted into a text-based document and checked for accuracy prior to analysis. These documents were organized by type and source into folders and saved in the secured drive. The groups included, House Amendments, Senate Amendments, Interview Transcript, and Public Documents. Each group of documents were uploaded into the NVivo software for analysis to be conducted.

Legislative Record Analysis

Legislative records were downloaded from the Tennessee General Assembly website and saved in a PDF format in a secured folder on a password-protected computer. These documents were categorized in the folder by House or Senate. The collected documents were uploaded into the qualitative analysis software by chamber for analysis. This organization was used to review amendments for their intended purpose as the bill progressed through the approval process.

The Senate and House versions of the bill (SB7005, HB 7010) were filed in their respective chambers on January 12, 2010. The bills were assigned to committee hearings in each chamber, taking place on January 13th and 14th. Voting on the Senate version of the bill began on January 15th.

The Senate bill had 17 amendments proposed as it progressed through the session on January 15th. Of the 17 amendments, 10 amendments were adopted. These amendments included changes impacting oversight of the initiative, use of data for evaluation of educators, and how funds for schools identified for this initiative will be managed. Amendments not adopted included items related to oversight of services to schools, evaluation procedures, and funding levels for schools identified for assistance. A full description of the process through the senate follows.

Legislative Progression

The initial bill was submitted on January 12, 2010. After the bill was introduced in the Tennessee Senate, there were several amendments proposed that would potentially change the impact of the legislation. A small number of amendments proposed by Senators were either withdrawn or defeated when voted upon. Ten amendments were successfully added to the legislation prior to it being submitted to the House for their consideration.

No records of Senate Committee assignments exist on the Tennessee Legislative website. Concurrent with the Senate calendar, the House companion bill was assigned to the House Government Operations Committee for review. The Government Operations

Committee held an initial hearing on the same day, in which this bill was one of the items discussed. The Government Operations Committee took up the bill again during its second meeting on January 13, 2010. After the Government Operations Committee, the bill next went to the House Education Committee. This Committee met about the bill over two days, January 13th and 14th. It was during these meetings that most of the testimony by internal and external constituents were heard. On January 15, 2010, the bill was transferred to the House Finance, Ways and Means Committee, which approved it for consideration by the elected members of the House.

Amendments approved by the Senate included changes made to areas such as evaluation of staff in schools impacted by this legislation, powers of the board that would be developed to oversee the initiative in Tennessee, oversight and accountability of school funds that are assigned to affected schools, requirements for membership of the board, any exemptions to these rules, and the types and percentages of data that would be used in evaluating staff as well as systems.

Analysis of the approved amendments indicated most of the proposed changes centered on the rules for evaluation of staff. Staff includes both instructional staff (teachers) as well as principals. Of the ten amendments, four (SB 7002, 7005, 7006, and 7019) contained language refining the types, frequency, and overall makeup of evaluations within the new system.

Second to the staff evaluation amendments were amendments refining the powers of the board. The changes adopted in these amendments defined the actions board

members could take when overseeing a school impacted by this initiative. This includes limitations to types of external providers that can contract to provide educational services in identified schools.

A significant number of amendments were focused on oversight of funds used by affected schools. Changes to the bill language defined how funds derived from the grant were to be used, and how they would be accounted for in state and local budgets.

Additionally, educational funding that was traditionally provided to schools would be placed in separate accounts, held until the school or system was removed from the status.

Almost equal in significance to the funding amendments were those centered on board oversight or membership. The initial draft of the legislation defined the board as being made up of key stakeholders from the state, including individuals from businesses and higher education. The approved amendments changed the makeup of the board to include a significant number of individuals with K-12 teaching experience in Tennessee as members of the board.

Amendments surrounding data were parts of three amendments. These changes included additions to requirements on specific student achievement data to be used in evaluating instructional staff as well as administrators. Other amendments adjusted the percentages that would be used in evaluation, changing the weight of specific areas to be considered.

A small number of amendments were concerned with possible exemptions to the oversight rules. These include eliminating the requirement for evaluations of staff

assigned as substitute teachers, as well as exemptions for class size requirements of career or technical classes. These exemptions addressed issues created in finding qualified staff to cover courses on a temporary basis. Additionally, the exemptions removed undue burdens to courses that are not in subject areas that are the focus for school improvement.

Blocked Amendments

The legislation also had a small number of amendments proposed that failed to pass the Senate. These were either withdrawn or were defeated during the vote by the Senate. There were a total of five proposed amendments that were not considered or were defeated during the time the bill was being considered.

One proposed amendment was written to make an adjustment to how data would be used in teacher evaluations. This amendment attempted to increase the importance of student achievement data. Had it been approved; student achievement data would move from being a portion in one section of the teacher evaluation to becoming its own section.

There were two amendments that addressed powers reserved for the board. One amendment attempted to restrict the types of contracts the board could enter. The amendment limited these external organizations to nonprofits that would be given control of day-to-day operations of schools. This amendment also attempted to define the structure of non-profit entities, specifically calling out the tax-exempt status in the state of Tennessee. An additional proposal was intended to limit powers of the Commissioner. Specifically, this amendment would have limited his or her ability to enter into contracts

with external entities, requiring a Request for Proposal (RFP) prior to any contract being drafted and signed.

Two of the failed amendments addressed funding and exemptions for career and technical courses. One of the proposals attempted to remove the protections for fully funding career and technical courses in schools affected by the proposed legislation based on class size. If the amendment was successful, these courses would be subject to the same funding formula as core classes in impacted schools, regardless of the needs for the curriculum. One other amendment would have forced career and technical classes to follow the same class size requirements as other courses. This would ignore any curricular requirements for classes that would need to have a specific class size.

The companion bill was introduced into the House on the same day. Several amendments centered on student data were considered but were either withdrawn or not passed. The House substituted the Senate version of the bill for their own and made three amendments prior to concurrence with the Senate.

The first of the three House amendments (HA7016) made several changes to the Senate bill. The first was an adjustment to the student data percentages used for evaluating teachers. There were also changes to reporting procedures schools identified under this initiative would need to follow. Regular operations, as well as contracts issued by the school district to vendors, would need to have regular reporting to the state. The final change was to the membership of the evaluation committee, requiring specific numbers of individuals with connections to public education.

The second amendment (HA7021), was centered on evaluation criteria. This amendment reinstated a provision of a Senate amendment that was changed in HA7016. Student data percentages were reinstated to the previous levels.

The final House amendment (HA7025) provided an exemption for teachers working as contract employees from being subject to the evaluation system. This amendment further clarified the membership of the evaluation committee, specifically about who from the legislature would be required to be members.

After amending the bill, it was sent back to the Senate for concurrence. The Senate agreed with the House amendments and sent the final version for signatures by the Speakers of both the House and Senate. It is important to note that the timing of all votes and amendments took place on January 15th. The bill was signed into law by the Governor on January 16th, becoming Public Chapter Number 2 with an effective date of January 27, 2010.

The legislative documents were uploaded into the NVivo 12 program for analysis. These documents were loaded into separate files, identified as either Senate or House amendments. The purpose of this division was to identify any themes shared between the two chambers, to identify any themes that were more important to a specific chamber, and to find any themes that may be unique to either the House or Senate.

Senate Themes

After the Senate amendments were placed into NVivo 12, the documents were analyzed to discover any themes that may exist. The resulting analysis identified several

key themes within the amendment language related to areas that would have a significant impact on the way schools being placed into the special status would operate. The following table lists the number of themes identified in the Senate amendments.

Table 1
Senate Amendment Themes

Identified Theme	Count of specific References
Evaluation	20
Data	14
	(table continues)
Teacher	12
Achievement	11
Entities	7
Criteria	7
Funding	3
Criteria	7

Within these references, there were several sub-themes that were targeted to specific areas. In the Data theme, there were two areas that were focused on either student achievement data or student growth data. The Teacher theme had 3 significant sub-themes, including specific references to improving teaching and use of teacher effect data.

House Themes

Like the Senate amendments, the House items were placed into NVivo 12 and analyzed for themes. When conducting analysis, there were significantly more themes evident in the amendments when compared to the Senate items. The following table identifies the main themes discovered in the amendments.

Table 2

House Amendment Themes

Identified Theme	Count of Specific References
Teacher	61
Evaluation	54
Student	40
Data	38
Funding	30
Achievement	28
Committee	24
Performance	17
Progress	16

Student Growth	13
Governance	13

As this table shows, there were a few themes (Teacher, Evaluation, Data, Achievement, and Funding) shared between both the House and Senate amendments. However, the number of references shows a difference in the importance the House placed on these items. Additionally, there were other themes that were apparent in the House analysis that were not present in the Senate amendments.

In the Teacher theme, the House identified areas such as the teacher evaluations, effect data, and the tenure status of existing teachers would be impacted. This differs from the Senate amendments, which were concerned with teacher performance and improvement. This theme was also the most prevalent one in the House amendments, having over 61 references throughout the documents.

Evaluations was the second most referenced item in the House amendments. Subthemes within this area not only included teacher evaluations, but also addressed evaluation grievance procedures, and policies for use.

Funding in the House amendments was significantly more present when compared to the Senate. The House amendments addressed areas such as the different funding sources for education funds (federal, state, and local), as well as formulas that would be used to assign funds to schools impacted by this legislation.

The House amendments also included themes not identified in the Senate items.

The House amendments included items addressing the oversight of the program

(Committee and Governance themes), as well as monitoring of the program after implementation (Performance, Student Growth, and Progress themes).

House Hearing Analysis

The House scheduled hearings for the Government Operations, Education, and Finance committees between January 12 and January 15, 2010. These committees met to discuss various amendments to the proposed legislation, as well as hear from individuals providing testimony such as support or additional information on the impact of the legislation. Changes to the proposed amendments were also considered and adopted based on discussions between the committee members and testimony provided.

Due to the number of amendments considered, the Government Operations and Education committees met in multiple sessions, sometimes over two days. These sessions were broadcast to the public via the Tennessee legislative website, and archived copies of these sessions are available for viewing by the public.

Copies of these sessions were downloaded from the Tennessee Legislative archive, and transcripts of the meeting were created using the Otter utility. These transcripts were imported into the NVivo 12 software for coding and analysis.

Analysis was initially conducted to identify various themes and sub-themes. These codes were reviewed to ensure they were applicable for the study. The following table lists themes identified in this initial analysis.

Table 3

House Hearing Analysis

Identified Theme	Count of Specific References
Teacher	91
Evaluation	48
Funding	19
Achievement	18
Achievement School District	9

After uploading the documentation into the qualitative analysis software, the legislative language was analyzed and assigned codes based on their intended impact or area of focus. Initial codes used included the following:

Table 3:

Codes

Code	Description
Oversight	Items identified with this code are primarily focused on control of the
	new initiative. These areas include powers assigned to the Board of

Oversigni	items identified with this code are primarily focused on control of the
	new initiative. These areas include powers assigned to the Board of
	Education Commissioner and Governor. This category also includes
	a description of the number and types of individuals who would
	advise the direction this initiative would take, ensuring stakeholders
	represent all members of the community.
Evaluation	Items in this category are focused on the criteria used to evaluate
	teachers and educational leaders who are working in Achievement
	School Districts
Funding	Items identified in this category have a focus on issues concerning
	use of funds assigned to education. This includes existing educational
	funds as well as funds received from the federal grant program.

Public Perception Analysis

Public documentation consisted mainly of articles published during the time the First to the Top legislation was being developed and enacted. These documents came from several sources, including publications localized to the state of Tennessee as well as national sources such as USAToday. A search for other advocacy or other sources for public advocacy did not find sources outside of these areas.

Articles available on news sites were converted to PDF format for text analysis. Additionally, text from websites were copied and converted in a similar manner. All items were uploaded into the NVivo 12 software for analysis. Initial analysis generated the following general themes.

Table 5

Public Sentiment Analysis

Identified Theme	Count of Specific References
School	44
Education	34
Evaluation	23
Students	23
Data	22

These themes include the following items. In the school theme, items categorized included budgeting issues at the local level, school reforms, and the impact charter schools have had on public school systems. The education theme included such items as national educational trends, federal funding for education, and the Race to the Top initiative's potential impact. Evaluation centered on teacher and principal evaluations, and includes issues such as retention, dismissal and ranking of educators. The student theme included items surrounding the assessment of students. The data theme was centered on the collection and use of student testing data which would be used in the evaluation of teachers and administrators.

Interview Analysis

Although approximately forty individuals were identified as being involved in the policymaking process, only one individual agreed to participate. Of the remaining 39 individuals, 5 declined to participate in the study. These individuals did not provide a reason for not wanting to participate. All other identified individuals did not respond to the initial or follow up requests.

The individual who agreed to be interviewed (Interview Subject 1), is an elected official in the Tennessee State Legislature with over 20 years of experience. This person has been involved in education policy development during their tenure and was involved in the creation of the First to the Top legislation. To protect this person's anonymity, they

will be identified as they/them in this study. Their political affiliation will also not be disclosed.

Interview Subject 1 began their elected tenure in the 1990s. They reported that one of the policy areas that was a concern was in education. They had conducted independent research before they were elected on what initiatives could be enacted to improve education in the state of Tennessee.

During the first few years of their tenure, Interview Subject 1 reported that any ideas they brought for consideration were considered anti-education and was an outsider to the established education policy making coalitions. Over time, this person became more connected with the existing coalition as previous members left due to retirement or other reasons. During this time, this person reported that they were open to work with any individual, regardless of political or group affiliation, who was able to provide information needed to address educational issues.

During this person's recollection of the First to the Top process, they noted that previous education initiatives had not progressed over several years. Most policy making had centered on minor topics, not addressing major issues surrounding student achievement. They noted that the possibility of receiving federal funds was a major driver behind the push for this initiative.

This subject reported in their interview that support for the initiative came from all areas involved in the policy making process. Support came from the Governor's office, elected officials from all political affiliations, and education special interest

groups. This person also noted that some of the interest groups participated in the process partially out of the desire to be seen in a positive light. Groups that were opposed to specific areas within the initiative, such as using student data to evaluate teachers, worked in a way that would not be viewed as keeping the state from qualifying for funds. This public pressure kept these groups from blocking the initiative's progression.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

The state legislation, amendments, and hearing transcripts are publicly available on the Tennessee General Assembly website. No need to request special permission was needed due to their inclusion in the public archive. These documents are intended to be reviewed by the public and are made available for this purpose. This includes any new articles or publications from advocacy groups, which are also available for the public to review. All documents were analyzed using the NVivo software program, allowing all documentation to be organized and easily accessible for review. The following sections describe the results of this review.

Results

The following is a description of the results of this study. First, the information regarding the impact the federal incentive had on the policy making process is presented. Second, the impact the incentive had on groups involved in the process will be described.

Prior to the development of the First to the Top legislation, it is important to remember that Tennessee had established systems for improving K-12 education. The state had developed a Basic Education Program (BEP) in 1992 for students in all levels.

In addition, the College and Career frameworks had been put into place to prepare students for life after they graduate. The ability for charter schools to be established within Tennessee had been enacted in 2009. Finally, a student data system, the Tennessee Value Added Assessment System (TVAAS) had been in place for 18 years. Policymakers within the state believed they could use these existing policies, adding the additional parts needed to meet the Race to the Top goals.

Impact of Funds on Policy Process

The promise of millions of dollars for the education system had an impact on those involved in the process. Many individuals, including those outside of the traditional group responsible for educational policy creation were incentivized to support this initiative's creation. As evidenced by individuals providing testimony in the House Hearings, the promise of these funds for the school system was particularly important to those involved:

...And as our board of directors talked about this, I think it became very evident to them, that we can either fight this. And Tennessee would lose millions of dollars that would help children and help schools. Or we can look at this money as an opportunity to do what's right, and to do what's fair. (House Education Committee, Day 2, 2010)

This was also evident in the response provided in the interview of the member of the General Assembly, who stated that

there was going to be a whole lot of money available to the state that showed their reforms would, you know, be useful and the money that they hung out there....and so if that promise of money had not been there, then I think some of the historically or groups who are opposed to education reform, it would have been hard to get them in there and then would have been hard to get some of the legislators. (Interview Subject 1, Qualitative Interview, February 2019).

The federal funds that would be available for schools within Tennessee were a catalyst for various groups to become involved and support the policy process.

Individuals involved with this process, while generally supporting reforms, also raised concerns over how the funds would be distributed. Public documents such as news reports during the development of this policy identified that funds were to be distributed under the control of the governor:

"Fifty percent of Tennessee's Race to the Top funds will be distributed directly to local school systems that propose reform ideas in keeping with the competition's areas of focus." (SCORE, 2010)

Testimony during the House Hearings centered on how the funds would be distributed. There was concern over the equitability of the distribution. Additionally, there was discussion over any formulas using student TVAAS data for distribution. The following are some examples of comments made during these hearings:

"...part of the discretion that the commissioner is going to have as to how much will be available and how much they should need." (House Education Committee, Day 2, 2010)

"I just talked to my my superintendents in my district, and they said, you know, we're going to get all our ducks in a row, we're gonna do all these things, you know, they applied for the request the governor sent out, we're going to do all this and we're not going to get anything in rural Tennessee. That basically was their comments. So how do you come about the numbers on this? Is this based on economic need is this based on academic need is this based on the numbers that you have from grades three through eight?" (House Education Committee, Day 2, 2010)

"when you look at the money being dispersed or split, according to Title One schools, is there any way in which data is used now that we have done longitudinal data that is going to be used for the dispersion of funds relative to academic need?" (House Education Committee, Day 2, 2010)

There was additional concern from those testifying in the House regarding how to account for any additional federal funds. These funds were to be used for improvements to accountability in school systems, augmenting the existing systems in place. Concern over what was to happen when the federal grant funds ended. It was important to some

individuals involved in the process to ensure any new processes or systems developed could continue after the program. For example:

"...let's say to develop an array of online courses that could be used in the high schools in Washington County. Now, once those are developed, ... if we're considering that as a program that cannot extend after the federal funds have dried up. And I have a concern with that." (House Education Committee, Day 2, 2010)

Impact on Involvement in the Policy Process

The First to the Top policy development process was unique in the amount of support it received from policymakers, public advocates, and regulatory personnel. This was a major education-related policy change in the state. Per the individual interviewed for this study, prior education initiatives were led by various groups, centered on subjects important to those groups. These initiatives would be fiscally motivated, asking for additional state funds for teacher salaries, or to be used to improve schools. Prior education initiatives were not designed to address issues in multiple areas and relied on existing state funding sources.

Individuals involved in this process recognized how much funding was at stake in this process. The grant money, especially the potential for hundreds of millions of dollars, provided an incentive to groups to work toward developing and implementing policies that would meet the requirements for a successful application to the Race to the Top program. These groups did not want to act in such a way that they would be blamed for losing out on accessing the federal grant funds. From the House Hearings:

"And as our board of directors talked about this, I think it became very evident to them, that we can either fight this. And Tennessee would lose millions of dollars that would help children and help schools. Or we can look at this money as an opportunity to do what's right, and to do what's fair." (House Education Committee, Day 2, 2010)

"We support the governor's legislative initiative, we support the Race to the Top application. And from what we know around the Race to the Top application, we know that there's going to be millions of dollars for struggling schools" (House Education Committee, Day 1, 2010)

The recollection of the elected official supported this as well:

"And so if that promise of money had not been there, then I think some of the historically or groups who are opposed to education reform, it would have been hard to get them in there and then would have been hard to get some of the legislators." (Interview Subject 1, Qualitative Interview, February 2019)

The federal grant also placed additional pressure on advocacy groups. These groups, while wanting to be supportive of the initiative, needed to fulfil their roles as advocates for the special interest groups they represented. Groups that represented the interests of teachers, such as the Tennessee Education Association (TEA), were opposed to the use of the TVAAS data as part of evaluations. The TEA recognized that pressing

against this use of data and getting their members to apply pressure to lawmakers in the state, could be used against their interest if the state failed to qualify for the grant. These groups would need to be careful in how they would address this issue, as evidenced by the following passages in the House Hearings:

"And we have a real problem with formative assessments, which essentially mean if we know we're going to give it an achievement test in April, then we ought to be testing children up at you know, every two or three months so that we know whether or not they're on track. In order to do well on that achievement test. We have a real problem in our state around data. The data is very unworldly, this money gives us the resources to make a lot of that data very teacher friendly, where teachers can use it quickly and easily." (House Education Committee, Day 1, 2010)

"But I'll tell you what, what really I think it boils down to teachers do not mind being held accountable. If you also address student responsibility, and parental accountability...we want to work with you to figure out a way that we can make sure that parents are held more responsible, or accountable for getting their children to school. That's a big problem for a lot of our teachers, as well as students who just choose not to do what anybody else tells them to do. And what scares teachers more than anything else in this state, I think over this whole issue

is they're going to be held accountable for some things that they cannot control."
(House Education Committee, Day 1, 2010)

"We want to use this process to make sure that data student performance data is collected properly. I want you to understand that there are many instances across the state around that you added where students who that teacher did not teach are included in their data collection. And we hope to correct a lot of that we think a teacher in this process should be able to know who's in that group, where that data came from." (House Education Committee, Day 1, 2010)

Summary

The policy making process in Tennessee was impacted by the federal incentive in two ways. Initially, the potential for an influx of federal dollars for education was a significant factor in initiating the policy making process. Prior to the First to the Top initiative, the previous major education initiative was over 15 years prior, when the Tennessee Value Added Assessment System was established. In addition, public pressure on special interest groups forced these groups to take the position to support the policy initiative. Groups that would normally take a position to oppose specific aspects of the policy, such as the use of student data for evaluations, made an adjustment to ensure they were not viewed as getting in the way of a successful application to the federal program. These two matters had an impact on the policy making process established in the state of Tennessee.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

As stated previously in this study, the purpose of this qualitative study is to fill a gap in understanding about what changes to state policy advocacy coalitions were made because of the competitive design of the RTTT. Potential impacts include the ways existing coalitions interact with each other, including the potential for excluding vulnerable populations that do not have the same access to decision makers in policy decisions. This study will rely on legislative, regulatory, and related documents that were produced during the decision-making process leading to the application. Supporting information will be in the form of interviews of key actors from states, including legislators or other members of state coalitions involved in the process.

Interpretation

The ACF is a way to evaluate and understand how policies are developed over time. Coalitions are formed by a group of individuals that include elected officials, professional staff from regulatory agencies, and advocates from the public. These coalitions are generally stable over time, and individuals who leave for various reasons are replaced by similarly minded individuals. When viewed through the lens of the ACF, Tennessee's First to the Top initiative exhibited some key changes to how the policy was developed. These changes can be attributed to the introduction of a coercive incentive to the process.

In the ACF, one of the key points is that a coalition holding opposing viewpoints will form to act as a counter to the main group. This group forms and exhibits the same

stability as the initial group, centers on the core belief, but hold different ideas on how to address that belief. In the case of the Tennessee First to the Top initiative, there was no identifiable counter coalition working against the creation of the policy. During the development of the policy, groups with an interest in improving the education system worked in a collaborative manner to push the initiative forward. The potential for millions of dollars encouraged the involved parties to work toward a successful implementation. No group wanted to be blocking a successful application and subsequently losing the opportunity for funds to improve the educational system.

An additional aspect of the ACF concerns the way an individual will act while interacting with the development process. Actors within the process will typically give up aspects of their belief system rather than acknowledge a weakness in their position. Throughout the First to the Top process, advocacy groups, especially those representing teachers, would publicly acknowledge that they would not want to be blocking receiving the federal funds. The teacher advocacy groups had preferred to work to eliminate the use of student data in teacher evaluations, but the potential for access to the funds changed their tactics. These groups worked to attempt to limit the use of data, but also wanted to be ultimately supporting the state's push toward the application.

In the ACF, developing policy initiatives require some level of informed conflict between actors within the system. This informed conflict allows for initiatives to be vetted and developed completely, allowing for various viewpoints to be incorporated.

While the First to the Top initiative did have testimony from various groups, actors

within the development process were acting from a position of support. Testimony was provided on systems of accountability for funds, rather than primarily on other areas.

Actors providing support to the process focused on developing policies that would qualify for the eventual submission and were not focused solely on addressing an educational need.

The ACF operates from a position that the administrative agencies provide advocacy from a centrist position. Agencies acting within the ACF do so from an expert position. That is, these agencies are the ones who have several years of expertise in the policy area and have a significant level of knowledge in what impacts policy changes will have on an area. In the FTTT initiative, Tennessee agencies such as the Tennessee Department of Education acted similarly to other coalition members. These members provided input from a position of support for the initiative, providing the necessary information needed to complete the application process. This knowledge was based on meeting the application requirements to qualify for the funds, rather than advocating for policy changes that would positively impact the educational system in the state.

A final impact on the coalition surrounding this issue was that the push to influence the policymaking process did not come from within the coalition, but rather were influenced by the incentive itself. As evidenced in the interview conducted as well as historical records surrounding educational policymaking in Tennessee, there were several incremental policy initiatives that were undertaken in the years prior to this initiative. Tennessee had already created a student data collection system as well as

assessments and evaluation systems. There had been no major push to integrate these various aspects into one program that would provide a way to track student achievement and teacher effectiveness for several years. The funds available in the federal Race to the Top program provided the necessary push for educational advocates in the state to put in place policies that would connect all these pieces. The policymaking process was not driven by a need to address a specific educational need that had arisen, but to gain access to money to be used to fund schools.

Implications for Social Change

The information collected from the various sources show that a coercive incentive, such as the funding that was available in the Race to the Top initiative, may have an impact on policymaking at the state level. As demonstrated by the testimony by various individuals testifying in the house hearings, the federal funds were a key element in working toward implementing education reforms in the state. Building on work that has been completed in previous years, policymakers, educational experts, and special interest advocates had and incentive for working on a solution that had a good chance of successfully qualifying for the federal funds.

The prospect of these funds has the possibility to influence any state policy development, including those that would have an impact on populations that do not have the same access to policymakers. Also, the incentive for creating policies that may qualify for funds may compress the time in which policymakers have to fully research the impacts on their constituents. The possible result can be the creation of new policies that

are not fully vetted, or implementation of rules that do not have the intended effect. This can cause policymakers to spend more time and money in the future to address the issues created.

Limitations of the Study

This study is based on the impacts the coercive incentives used by the federal government had on an existing state-level policy coalition addressing education issues. The study will rely on documentation and interview responses to generate information that can be analyzed to determine any potential effects on the process used by the participants.

Documentation on what was developed is readily available through multiple sources. However, part of this study will rely on having access to individuals involved with the process. While many of the individuals who participated in the process leading up to the Race to the Top application are still members of the Tennessee state legislature and other agencies, these people may not agree to be interviewed for this study. Reasons for this could include lack of time in their schedule, low interest in the potential results of the study, or limited recollection of what happened during the time these policies and regulations were being developed.

An additional limitation is centered on the policy area that is the focus of this study. The research is focused on the impacts coercive federal initiatives have on state-level education policy. While all states will need to address issues surrounding education, the way coalitions formed around other areas may not have the same reactions to federal

incentives. Further studies into other jurisdictions and other policy areas may extend this research into these other areas.

Recommendations

Based on this qualitative study of the impact that a coercive federal incentive may have on state policy coalitions, I can offer the following recommendations for future research. One would be to use the Advocacy Coalition Framework (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993) to expand this study to other states that competed in the first round of the Race to the Top initiative. This expansion would allow a comparison of the effects on the policymaking process with the other successful first-round state, Delaware, but would also provide insight on the impacts on other states that were not successful.

Additionally, this study could be expanded to states in subsequent rounds, of the Race to the Top process. This expansion could focus on how the successful states in the other rounds changed their policy process to successfully qualify for funds. This could also include any influence the first states may have had on the process. Research could also include any states that had started the process but abandoned it after an unsuccessful attempt.

Further research can be conducted on the specific impacts vulnerable populations experienced in this process. While this study was focused on the process leading up to the submission, the timeframe can be expanded to include the impacts experienced after implementation. Consideration of public perception of the benefits of the program can

also be included, comparing this to past educational policymaking initiatives and their impacts.

Conclusion

The Advocacy Coalition Framework (ACF) (Sabatier & Jenkins-Smith, 1993) was an appropriate method for reviewing how a coercive federal incentive impacted a state-level policy process. The ACF provides a clear framework on how to analyze state policy creation, and how the various groups within the coalition form and interact with each other.

In the state of Tennessee, the possibility for federal funds to supplement the existing state education funding levels provided an incentive to develop policies that meet specific guidelines. This made significant changes to the policymaking process that was in place. Changes to the existing process centered on how actors within the system interact with each other, as well as changes to the levels that they would advocate for their positions. The potential funding provided an influence on this process, either to induce individuals to act quickly or to act in a way that would not be blocking a potential influx of money to support the educational system. The use of a coercive federal grant program for future initiatives could have similar impacts on state policymaking and could impact groups that do not have the same access or influence within the process. Special care should be taken by members of policy coalitions in the future to ensure initiatives drafted take this into account and that these groups interests are protected.

References

- Adler, J. H. (2012). Interstate Competition And The Race To The Top. *Harvard Journal Of Law & Public Policy*, 35(1), 89-99.
- Adshead, M. (2011). An advocacy coalition framework approach to the rise and fall of social partnership. *Irish Political Studies*, 26(1), 73-93.
- Balla, S. (2014). Interstate professional associations and the diffusion of policy innovations. *American Politics Research*, 29(3), 221-245. doi: 10.1177/1532673X01293001
- Baybeck, B., Berry, W., & Siegel, D. (2011). A Strategic Theory of Policy Diffusion via Intergovernmental Competition. Journal of Politics, 73(1), 232–247. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0022381610000988
- Benson, D., & Jordan, A. (2012). Policy transfer research: still evolving, not yet through?. Political studies review, 10(3), 333-338.
- Boser, U., & Center for American, P. (2012). Race to the Top: What Have We Learned from the States So Far? A State-by-State Evaluation of Race to the Top Performance. *Center For American Progress*,
- Boushey, G. (2012). Punctuated equilibrium theory and the diffusion of innovations. Policy Studies Journal, 40(1), 127-146.

- Bowen, D. H. (2011). Political Influences on the Scoring of Race to the Top. *Conference Papers -- Southern Political Science Association*, 1-25.
- Cairney, P. (2013). Standing on the Shoulders of Giants: How Do We Combine the Insights of Multiple Theories in Public Policy Studies? *Policy Studies Journal*, 41(1), i-ii. doi:10.1111/psj.12008
- Cairney, P. (2015). Paul A. Sabatier, "An Advocacy Coalition Framework of Policy

 Change and the Role of Policy-Oriented Learning Therein". In S. Balla, M. Lodge

 & E. Page, *The Oxford Handbook of Classics in Public Policy and*Administration (1st ed., pp. 484-497). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Chamberlain, J. M. (2013). Grounded theory analysis. In Understanding criminological research: A guide to data analysis. (pp. 74-105). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4135/9781473913837.n4
- Chambré, S. M. (2015). Book Reviews: Nonprofits & advocacy: Engaging community and government in an era of retrenchment, by Pekkanen, RJ, Smith, SR, & Tsujinaka, Y.(Eds.). *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 0899764015569191.
- Clifton, J., & Díaz-Fuentes, D. (2014). The OECD and "The Rest": Analyzing the Limits of Policy Transfer. Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice, 16(3), 249-265.

- Coffey, A. (2014). Analysing documents. In U. Flick (Ed.), The SAGE handbook of qualitative data analysis. (pp. 367-380). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4135/9781446282243.n25
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2008). 4 Strategies for Qualitative Data Analysis. In Basics of Qualitative Research (3rd ed.): Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. (pp. 65-87). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4135/9781452230153.n4
- Croft, S. J., Roberts, M. A., & Stenhouse, V. L. (2016). The Perfect Storm of Education Reform: High-Stakes Testing and Teacher Evaluation. Social Justice, 42(1), 70-92.
- Cross, C. T., & Education Commission of the, S. (2015). The Shaping of Federal

 Education Policy over Time. The Progress of Education Reform. Volume 16,

 Number 2. Education Commission Of The States,
- Dolowitz, D. (2003). A Policy–maker's Guide to Policy Transfer. Political Quarterly, 74(1), 101–108. doi: 10.1111/1467-923X.t01-1-00517
- Dolowitz, D., & Marsh, D. (2000). Learning from Abroad: The Role of Policy Transfer in Contemporary Policy-Making. Governance, 13(1), 5. doi:10.1111/0952-1895.00121

- Douglas, M. R., Manion, C. A., Hall-Harper, V. D., Terronez, K. M., Love, C. A., & Chan, A. (2015). Case studies from community coalitions: advancing local tobacco control policy in a preemptive State. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 48(1), S29-S35.
- Eaton, C., & Weir, M. (2015). The Power of Coalitions Advancing the Public in California's Public-Private Welfare State. *Politics & Society*, 43(1), 3-32.
- Edler, J., & James, A. D. (2015). Understanding the emergence of new science and technology policies: Policy entrepreneurship, agenda setting and the development of the European Framework Programme. *Research Policy*, 44(6), 1252-1265.
- Eising, R., Rasch, D., & Rozbicka, P. (2015). Institutions, policies, and arguments: context and strategy in EU policy framing. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 22(4), 516-533.
- Elgin, D. J., & Weible, C. M. (2013). A Stakeholder Analysis of Colorado Climate and Energy Issues Using Policy Analytical Capacity and the Advocacy Coalition Framework. *Review Of Policy Research*, 30(1), 114-133. doi:10.1111/ropr.12005
- Fischer, M., & Maggetti, M. (2016). Qualitative Comparative Analysis and the Study of Policy Processes. *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis: Research and Practice*, 1-17.

- Fleming, D. J. (2014). Learning from Schools: School Choice, Political Learning, and Policy Feedback. *Policy Studies Journal*, 42(1), 55-78. doi:10.1111/psj.12042
- Flick, U. (2014). Mapping the field. In U. Flick (Ed.), The SAGE handbook of qualitative data analysis. (pp. 3-19). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4135/9781446282243.n1
- Füglister, K. (2012). Where does learning take place? The role of intergovernmental cooperation in policy diffusion. *European Journal of Political Research*, 51(3), 316-349.
- Gabriel, R. & Paulus, T. (2014). Committees and Controversy Consultants in the Construction of Education Policy. *Educational Policy*, 1-28. doi: 10.1177/0895904814531650
- Gamkhar, S., & Pickerill, J. M. (2012). The State of American Federalism 2011–2012: A Fend for Yourself and Activist Form of Bottom-Up Federalism. Publius. *Journal of Federalism*, 42(3), 357-386.
- Geels, F. W., & Penna, C. C. (2015). Societal problems and industry reorientation:

 Elaborating the Dialectic Issue LifeCycle (DILC) model and a case study of car safety in the USA (1900–1995). *Research Policy*, 44(1), 67-82.
- Glaser, B. G. (2002, September). Constructivist grounded theory?. In *Forum qualitative* socialforschung/forum: Qualitative social research (Vol. 3, No. 3).

- Glaser, B. G. (2013). Staying Open: The Use of Theoretical Codes in GT. *Grounded Theory Review: An International Journal, Vol 12, Iss 1 (2013)*, (1),
- Glaser, B. G. (2016). The Grounded Theory Perspective: Its Origins and Growth. *Grounded Theory Review*, 15(1), 4-9.
- Glaser, B. G. (2016). Ignoring Grounded Description. *Grounded Theory Review*, 15(2), 105-107.
- Glaser, B. G., & Holton, J. (2004, May). Remodeling grounded theory. In *Forum*Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research (Vol. 5, No. 2).
- Graham, E. R., Shipan, C. R., & Volden, C. (2013). The diffusion of policy diffusion research in political science. British Journal of Political Science, 43(03), 673-701.
- Gupta, K. (2012). Comparative Public Policy: Using the Comparative Method to

 Advance Our Understanding of the Policy Process. *Policy Studies Journal*,401126. doi:10.1111/j.1541-0072.2012.00443.x
- Harris, D. (2009). Toward policy-relevant benchmarks for interpreting effect sizes:

 Combining effects with costs. In W. Paul Vogt (Ed.), SAGE quantitative research methods. (Vol. 31, pp. 4-286). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

 Retrieved from http://srmo.sagepub.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/view/sage-quantitative-research-methods/SAGE.xml

- Heise, M. (2006). THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF EDUCATION FEDERALISM. *Emory Law Journal*, *56*(1), 125-157.
- Hernandez, C. A. (2009). Theoretical Coding in Grounded Theory

 Methodology. *Grounded Theory Review*, 8(3), 51-60.
- Holton, J. A. (2007). The coding process and its challenges. *The Sage handbook of grounded theory*, (Part III), 265-89.
- Jenkins-Smith, H., Silva, C. L., Gupta, K., & Ripberger, J. T. (2014). Belief System

 Continuity and Change in Policy Advocacy Coalitions: Using Cultural Theory to

 Specify Belief Systems, Coalitions, and Sources of Change. *Policy Studies*Journal, 42(4), 484-508. doi:10.1111/psj.12071
- Jenkins-Smith, H. C., Nohrstedt, D., Weible, C. M., & Sabatier, P. A. (2014). The advocacy coalition framework: Foundations, evolution, and ongoing research. *Theories of the policy process*, 3.
- Johnson, Michelle A., and Mattyna L. Stephens. "Race to the Top and the Exclusion of Welfare Recipients From Educational Policy Discourse." *Adult Learning* 23, no. 4 (November 2012): 188-195. *Academic Search Complete*, EBSCO*host* (accessed September 3, 2015).
- Kim, S., & Schachter, H. L. (2013). Citizen participation in the budget process and local government accountability: Case studies of organizational learning from the

- United States and South Korea. Public Performance & Management Review, 36(3), 456-471.
- Klüver, H., Braun, C., & Beyers, J. (2015). Legislative lobbying in context: towards a conceptual framework of interest group lobbying in the European Union. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 22(4), 447-461.
- Legrand, T. (2012). "Overseas and over here: policy transfer and evidence-based policy-making." *Policy Studies* 33, no. 4: 329-348. *Political Science Complete*, EBSCO*host* (accessed February 7, 2016).
- Leifeld, P. (2013). Reconceptualizing Major Policy Change in the Advocacy Coalition

 Framework: A Discourse Network Analysis of German Pension Politics. *Policy Studies Journal*, 41(1), 169-198. doi:10.1111/psj.12007
- Levine, J. R., & Wilson, W. J. (2013). Poverty, Politics, And A 'Circle Of Promise':

 Holistic Education Policy In Boston And The Challenge Of Institutional

 Entrenchment. Journal Of Urban Affairs, 35(1), 7-24. Doi:10.1111/Juaf.12001
- Ljubownikow, S., & Crotty, J. (2015). Nonprofit Influence on Public Policy Exploring

 Nonprofit Advocacy in Russia. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*,

 0899764015583121.
- Lubell, M. (2013). Governing institutional complexity: The ecology of games framework. Policy Studies Journal, 41(3), 537-559.

- Lubell, M., Scholz, J., Berardo, R., & Robins, G. (2012). Testing Policy Theory with Statistical Models of Networks. *Policy Studies Journal*, 40(3), 351-374. doi:10.1111/j.1541-0072.2012.00457.x
- Mahoney, C. (2007). Networking vs. allying: the decision of interest groups to join coalitions in the US and the EU. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 14(3), 366-383.
- Mahoney, C., & Baumgartner, F. R. (2015). Partners in Advocacy: Lobbyists and Government Officials in Washington. *The Journal of Politics*, 77(1), 202-215.
- Manna, P., & Ryan, L. L. (2011). Competitive Grants and Educational Federalism:

 President Obama's Race to the Top Program in Theory and Practice. Publius: The

 Journal Of Federalism, 41(3), 522-546.
- Marcoux, J. M., Gomez, O. C. C., & Létourneau, L. (2013). The Inclusion of Nonsafety

 Criteria within the Regulatory Framework of Agricultural Biotechnology:

 Exploring Factors that Are Likely to Influence Policy Transfer. Review of Policy

 Research, 30(6), 657-684.
- Matisoff, D. C., & Edwards, J. (2014). Kindred spirits or intergovernmental competition?

 The innovation and diffusion of energy policies in the American states (1990–2008). Environmental Politics, 23(5), 795-817.

- Matti, S., & Sandström, A. (2013). The Defining Elements of Advocacy Coalitions:

 Continuing the Search for Explanations for Coordination and Coalition

 Structures. *Review Of Policy Research*, 30(2), 240-257. doi:10.1111/ropr.12011
- Mehta J (2013) How paradigms create politics: The transformation of American educational policy, 1980–2001. American Educational Research Journal 50(2): 285–324. doi: 10.3102/0002831212471417
- McCann, E., & Ward, K. (2012). Policy Assemblages, Mobilities and Mutations: Toward a Multidisciplinary Conversation. Political Studies Review, 10(3), 325–332. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-9302.2012.00276.x
- McDonnell, L. M. (2013). Educational accountability and policy feedback. *Educational Policy*, 27(2), 170-189.doi:10.1177/0895904812465119
- McDonnell, L. M., & Weatherford, M. S. (2013). Organized interests and the Common Core. *Educational Researcher*. doi: 10.3102/0013189X13512676
- McGuinn, P. (2012a). Fight club: are advocacy organizations changing the politics of education?. *Education Next*, (3), 25.
- McGuinn, P. (2012). Stimulating reform: Race to the Top, Competitive Grants, and the Obama education agenda. *Educational Policy* 26(1), 136-159.

- McGuinn, P. (2014). Presidential Policymaking: Race to the Top, Executive Power, and the Obama Education Agenda. Forum (2194-6183), 12(1), 61–79. http://doi.org/10.1515/for-2014-0017
- McGuinn, P. (2015). Complicated politics to the Core: the bumpy implementation of the Common Core and its assessments has a thorny knot of political alliances and adversaries. *Phi Delta Kappan*, (1),
- Melia, K. (1996). Rediscovering Glaser. In P. Atkinson, & S. Delamont (Eds.), SAGE
 Qualitative Research Methods. (Vol. 6, pp. 369-169). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE
 Publications, Inc. Retrieved from
 http://srmo.sagepub.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/view/sage-qualitative-research-methods/SAGE.xml
- Miczo, N. (2003). Beyond the "Fetishism of Words": Considerations on the Use of the Interview to Gather Chronic Illness Narratives. In P. Atkinson, & S. Delamont (Eds.), SAGE Qualitative Research Methods. (Vol. 13, pp. 470-193). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. Retrieved from http://srmo.sagepub.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/view/sage-qualitative-research-methods/SAGE.xml
- Mogalakwe, M. (2009). THE DOCUMENTARY RESEARCH METHOD -- USING DOCUMENTARY SOURCES IN SOCIAL RESEARCH. *Eastern Africa Social Science Research Review*, 25(2), 43.

- Moreland-Russell, S., Barbero, C., Andersen, S., Geary, N., Dodson, E. A., & Brownson, R. C. (2015). "Hearing from all sides" How legislative testimony influences state level policy-makers in the United States. *International journal of health policy and management*, 4(2), 91.
- Morse, J., & Maddox, L. (2014). Analytic integration in qualitatively driven (QUAL) mixed and multiple methods designs. In U. Flick (Ed.), The SAGE handbook of qualitative data analysis. (pp. 524-540). London: SAGE Publications Ltd. doi: http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4135/9781446282243.n36
- Neumayer, E., & Plümper, T. (2012). Conditional spatial policy dependence theory and model specification. Comparative Political Studies, 45(7), 819-849.
- Nicholson-Crotty, S. (2009). The Politics of Diffusion: Public Policy in the American States. Journal of Politics, 71(1), 192–205. doi:10.1017/S0022381608090129
- Nicholson-Crotty, S. C., Woods, N. D., Bowman, A. O., & Karch, A. (2014). Policy Innovativeness and Interstate Compacts. *Policy Studies Journal*, *42*(2), 305-324. doi:10.1111/psj.12060Nowlin, M. C. (2011). Theories of the Policy Process: State of the Research and Emerging Trends. *Policy Studies Journal*, *39*41-60. doi:10.1111/j.1541-0072.2010.00389 4.x
- Norris, D. F., & Reddick, C. G. (2013). Local e-government in the United States:

 Transformation or incremental change?. Public Administration Review, 73(1),
 165-175.

- Obinger, H., Schmitt, C., & Starke, P. (2013). Policy Diffusion and Policy Transfer in Comparative Welfare State Research. Social Policy & Administration, 47(1), 111-129. doi:10.1111/spol.12003
- Olsson, J. (2009). The Power of the Inside Activist: Understanding Policy Change by Empowering the Advocacy Coalition Framework (ACF). *Planning Theory & Practice*, 10(2), 167-187. doi:10.1080/14649350902884425
- Pacheco, J. (2012). The Social Contagion Model: Exploring the Role of Public Opinion on the Diffusion of Antismoking Legislation across the American States. *Journal Of Politics*, 74(1), 187-202. doi:10.1017/S0022381611001241
- Palus, Christine K, and Yackee, Susan W. (2012) Oversight as Constraint or Catalyst?
 Explaining Agency Influence on State Policy Decision Making. The American
 Review of Public Administration, 43(3), 273-291. doi:
 10.1177/0275074012443730.
- Pampel, F. C., & Hunter, L. M. (2012). Cohort change, diffusion, and support for environmental spending in the United States. AJS; American journal of sociology, 118(2), 420.
- Parsons, C. (2015). Ideas and power: four intersections and how to show them. *Journal of European Public Policy*, 1-18.

- Patrick, B. (2012). Fiscal Federalism, Performance Policies, and Education Reforms: Are States Using Performance Policies to Improve Workforce Quality? Politics & Policy, 40(4), 593-628. doi:10.1111/j.1747-1346.2012.00370.x
- Piazza, P. (2014). The Media Got It Wrong! A Critical Discourse Analysis of Changes to the Educational Policy Making Arena. *Education Policy Analysis*Archives, 22(36),
- Prince R (2012) Policy transfer, consultants and the geographies of governance. Progress in Human Geography 36(2): 188–203. doi:10.1177/0309132511417659
- Rabe, B. G., & Borick, C. (2013). Conventional politics for unconventional drilling?

 Lessons from Pennsylvania's early move into fracking policy development.

 Review of Policy Research, 30(3), 321-340.
- Reckhow, S., & Tompkins-Stange, M. (2015). Singing from the Same Hymnbook": Education Policy Advocacy at Gates and Broad.
- Richards, C., & Farrokhnia, F. (2016). Optimizing Grounded Theory for Policy Research:

 A Knowledge-Building Approach to Analyzing WTO E-Commerce

 Policies. *International Journal Of Qualitative Methods*, 1-14.

 doi:10.1177/1609406915621380

- Rhodes, J. (2015). Learning Citizenship? How State Education Reforms Affect Parents'
 Political Attitudes and Behavior. Political Behavior, 37(1), 181-220.
 doi:10.1007/s11109-014-9270-8
- Russell, J. L., Meredith, J., Childs, J., Stein, M. K., & Prine, D. W. (2015). Designing
 Inter-Organizational Networks to Implement Education Reform An Analysis of
 State Race to the Top Applications. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis,
 37(1), 92-112.
- Sabatier, Paul A., and Hank C. Jenkins-Smith. 1993. *Policy Change and Learning: An Advocacy Coalition Approach*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Sandelowski, M. (2009). On quantitizing. In W. Paul Vogt (Ed.), SAGE quantitative research methods. (Vol. 3, pp. 209-437). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. Retrieved from http://srmo.sagepub.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/view/sage-quantitative-research-methods/SAGE.xml
- Schlager, E. (1995). Policy making and collective action: Defining coalitions within the advocacy coalition framework. *Policy Sciences*, 28(3), 243-270.
- Schneiberg, M. (2013). Movements as political conditions for diffusion: Anti-corporate movements and the spread of cooperative forms in American capitalism.

 Organization Studies, 0170840613479226.

- Scott, J., & Jabbar, H. (2014). The hub and the spokes: Foundations, intermediary organizations, incentivist reforms, and the politics of research evidence. *Educational Policy*. doi:10.1177/0895904813515327
- Squires, G., & Hall, S. (2013). Lesson (un) learning in spatially targeted fiscal incentive policy: Enterprise Zones (England) and Empowerment Zones (United States).

 Land Use Policy, 33, 81-89.
- Starke, P. (2013). Qualitative Methods for the Study of Policy Diffusion: Challenges and Available Solutions. Policy Studies Journal, 41(4), 561–582. http://doi.org/10.1111/psj.12032
- Stone, D. (2012). Transfer and translation of policy. Policy Studies, 33(6), 483–499. http://doi.org/10.1080/01442872.2012.695933
- Tandberg, D. A., & Hillman, N. W. (2014). State higher education performance funding:

 data, outcomes, and policy implications. Journal of Education Finance, 39(3),

 222+. Retrieved from

 http://auth.waldenulibrary.org/ezpws.exe?url=http://go.galegroup.com.ezp.walden

 ulibrary.org/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA358537119&v=2.1&u=minn4020&it=r&p=

 LT&sw=w&asid=1d45cc9879574ba2347215bea44f1b20
- Tennessee State Legislature, House Education Committee, Day 1, January 13, 2010.

 Retrieved from:

http://wapp.capitol.tn.gov/apps/BillInfo/Default.aspx?BillNumber=HB7010&GA =106

Tennessee State Legislature, House Education Committee, Day 2, January 14, 2010.

Retrieved from:

http://wapp.capitol.tn.gov/apps/BillInfo/Default.aspx?BillNumber=HB7010&GA = 106

Tennessee State Legislature, House Finance, Ways, and Means Committee, January 15, 2010. Retrieved from:

http://wapp.capitol.tn.gov/apps/BillInfo/Default.aspx?BillNumber=HB7010&GA

=106

Tennessee State Legislature, House Government Operations Committee, January 12,
2010. Retrieved from:
http://wapp.capitol.tn.gov/apps/BillInfo/Default.aspx?BillNumber=HB7010&GA
=106

- VanLandingham, G. R. (2011). Escaping the dusty shelf: Legislative evaluation offices' efforts to promote utilization. American Journal of Evaluation, 32, 85-97
- Walker, R. M., Avellaneda, C. N., & Berry, F. S. (2011). Exploring The Diffusion Of Innovation Among High And Low Innovative Localities. *Public Management Review*, 13(1), 95-125. doi:10.1080/14719037.2010.501616

- Webber, A., Troppe, P., Milanowski, A., Gutmann, B., Reisner, E., Goertz, M., &
 National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, (. (2014).
 State Implementation of Reforms Promoted under the Recovery Act. A Report from Charting the Progress of Education Reform: An Evaluation of the Recovery Act's Role. NCEE 2014-4011. National Center For Education Evaluation And Regional Assistance,
- Weible, C. M., & Sabatier, P. A. (2006). 9 A Guide to the Advocacy Coalition Framework. *Handbook of public policy analysis*, 123.
- Weible, C. M., Sabatier, P. A., Jenkins-Smith, H. C., Nohrstedt, D., Henry, A. D., & deLeon, P. (2011). A Quarter Century of the Advocacy Coalition Framework: An Introduction to the Special Issue. *Policy Studies Journal*, 39(3), 349-360. doi:10.1111/j.1541-0072.2011.00412.x
- Weible, C. M., Sabatier, P. A., & McQueen, K. (2009). Themes and Variations: Taking Stock of the Advocacy Coalition Framework. *Policy Studies Journal*, *37*(1), 121-140. doi:10.1111/j.1541-0072.2008.00299.x
- Weishaar, H., Amos, A., & Collin, J. (2015). Best of enemies: Using social network analysis to explore a policy network in European smoke-free policy. *Social Science & Medicine*, 133, 85-92.
- Whitaker, E. A., Herian, M. N., Larimer, C. W., & Lang, M. (2012). The Determinants of Policy Introduction and Bill Adoption: Examining Minimum Wage Increases in

the American States, 1997-2006. Policy Studies Journal, 40(4), 626-649.

doi:10.1111/j.1541-0072.2012.00467.x

Appendix A

First to the Top Initial and Final Bills

Initial Submission

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF TENNESSEE:

SECTION 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Tennessee First to the

Top Act of 2010".

SECTION 2. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(f)(1)(C)(ii), is amended by deleting the existing language and by substituting instead the following language:

"Removing the school from the jurisdiction of the LEA and placing the school under the jurisdiction of the "achievement school district" established by the commissioner of education pursuant to § 49-1-614."

SECTION 3. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(f)(1)(C), is further amended by adding the following language as newly designated subdivision (v):

"Notwithstanding any provision of the law to the contrary, the commissioner shall have the authority to choose for the school the plan of alternative governance to be developed and implemented."

SECTION 4. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(g), is amended by deleting the following language:

"If the school does not meet the performance standards of the state board by the end of the fourth year of improvement status, the school may be placed in the fifth year of improvement status (Restructuring 2--- Alternative Governance). During the fifth year of improvement status:"

and by substituting instead the following language:

"If the school does not meet the performance standards of the state board by the end of the fourth year of improvement status, the school may be placed in the fifth year of improvement status (Restructuring 2--- Alternative Governance). During the fifth year of improvement status or at any time a Title I school meets the U.S. Department of Education's definition of "persistently lowest achieving schools:"

SECTION 5. Tennessee Code Annotated 49-1-602(g)(2)(E), is amended by deleting the existing language and by substituting instead the following language:

"Implementation of the plan for governance, selected from options provided by the commissioner or the specific plan chosen by the commissioner; provided, however, that in the case where the plan for alternative governance is implemented, the LEA shall continue to be accountable for the match required by the funding formula for students served. In addition, the LEA shall continue to provide such support services as identified by the commissioner or designee.

SECTION 6. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(l)(1)(A), is amended by deleting the existing language and by substituting instead the following language:

"Assume any or all powers of governance for the LEA, including, but not limited to assigning the LEA, or individual schools within the LEA, to the achievement school

district. However, in the case of the commissioner assuming governance, the LEA shall continue to be accountable for the match required by the BEP funding formula for students served.

SECTION 7. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-606(a), is amended by deleting the second sentence of the subsection in its entirety.

SECTION 8. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-606(b), is amended by adding the following sentence at the end of the subsection:

"The estimates of specific teacher effects may also be made available to the state board approved teacher preparation programs of individual teachers. The estimates made available to the preparation programs shall not be personally identifiable with a particular teacher."

SECTION 9. Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 49, Chapter 1, Part 6, is amended by adding the following language as a new § 49-1-614:

- (a) For the purposes of this title, the "achievement school district" is an organizational unit of the department of education, established by the commissioner for the purpose of providing oversight for the operation of the total program for individual schools or LEAs, pursuant to § 49-1-602.
- (b) The commissioner shall have the authority to contract with one or more individuals, governmental entities or nonprofit entities to manage the day to day operations of any or all schools or LEAs placed in the achievement school district, including, but not limited to providing direct services to students.
- (c) The individual, governmental entity or nonprofit entity contracted with to manage schools or LEAS that have been placed in the achievement school district may apply to the commissioner for a waiver of any state board rule that inhibits or hinders the ability of the school or LEA to achieve the required adequate yearly progress benchmarks. Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection (c), the commissioner shall not waive rules related to the following:
 - (1) Federal and state civil rights;
 - (2) Federal, state, and local health and safety;
 - (3) Federal and state public records;

- (4) Immunizations;
- (5) Possession of weapons on school grounds;
- (6) Background checks and fingerprinting of personnel;
- (7) Federal and state special education services;
- (8) Student due process;
- (9) Parental rights;
- (10) Federal and state student assessment and accountability;
- (11) Open meetings; and
- (12) At least the same equivalent time of instruction as required in regular public schools.
- (d) The individual, governmental entity or nonprofit entity contracted with to manage schools that have been placed in the achievement school district shall have the authority to determine whether any teacher who was previously assigned to such school shall have the option of continuing to teach at that school as an employee of the managing entity. Any teacher not given that option shall remain an employee of the LEA, subject to the provisions of §49-5-511. Moreover, any teacher who accepts that option shall have the right to return to the employ of the LEA should the managing entity later determine not to continue to employ such teacher, subject to the provisions of §49-5-511.
 - (1) With the exception of the provisions protecting teachers' rights to accumulated sick leave, retirement benefits, pension and tenure status within an LEA, the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 49-5-203 and the Education Professional Negotiations Act, compiled in Title 49, Chapter, 5,

Part 6, shall not apply to teachers who accept the option of continuing to teach at a school placed in the achievement school district.

- (e) After a school or LEA that has been placed in the achievement school district achieves the required adequate yearly progress benchmarks for two consecutive years, the commissioner shall develop a transition plan for the purpose of planning the school's or LEA's return to the jurisdiction of the local board of education. Implementation of this plan shall begin after the school or LEA achieves the required adequate yearly progress benchmarks for three consecutive years. The plan must be fully implemented and the transition must be completed after a school or LEA achieves adequate yearly progress benchmarks for five consecutive years.
- (f) Notwithstanding the provisions of any law to the contrary, the commissioner shall have the authority to remove any school or LEA from the jurisdiction of the achievement school district at any time.
- (g) All BEP funds generated in support of students assigned to schools placed in the achievement school district shall be moved to a special BEP reserve account to be held until the school is placed back under the jurisdiction of the LEA.

SECTION 10. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-302(d)(1) and (2), are amended by deleting those subdivisions in their entirety and by substituting instead the following:

(d)

(1) There is hereby created the "teacher evaluation advisory committee".

The committee shall consist of fifteen (15) members, including the commissioner of education, the executive director of the state board of education and the chairpersons of the education committees of the senate and the house of representatives. The remaining eleven (11) members shall be appointed by the governor. Appointments to the committee shall include persons representing the interests of teachers, school boards, principals, directors, students, parents and others deemed appropriate. The membership of the committee shall appropriately reflect the racial and geographic diversity of this state. The commissioner of education shall serve as the chairperson of the committee.

(2) The committee shall develop and recommend to the board, guidelines and criteria for the annual evaluation of all teachers and principals employed by LEAs, including a local-level evaluation grievance procedure. This grievance procedure shall provide a means for evaluated teachers and principals to challenge only the accuracy of the data used in the evaluation and the adherence to the evaluation policies adopted pursuant to this subdivision. Following the development of these guidelines and criteria, the board shall adopt policies necessary to implement the recommended guidelines and criteria. The evaluations shall be a factor in employment decisions, including but not necessarily limited to promotion, retention, termination, compensation and the attainment of tenure status. The mandatory criteria for the evaluation shall include but not necessarily be limited to the following:

- (A) Teacher effect data, as developed pursuant to

 Tennessee Code Annotated Title 49, Chapter 1, Part 6, when

 available, or some other comparable measure of student growth;
 - (B) Review of prior evaluations; and
- (C) Personal conferences to include discussion of strengths, weaknesses and remediation; and
- (D) Relative to teachers only, classroom or position observation followed by written assessment; and
- (E) Relative to principals only, additional criteria pursuant to § 49- 2-303(a)(1).
- (3) The policies adopted pursuant to subdivision (2) shall be effective no later than July 1, 2011, in order to be implemented prior to the 2011-2012 academic year. Prior to the implementation of these policies, the existing guidelines and criteria for the evaluation of certificated persons employed by LEAs shall continue to be utilized.

SECTION 11. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-2-303(a)(1), is amended by deleting the subdivision in its entirety and by substituting instead the following language:

"Each director of schools shall employ principals for the public schools.

The employment contract with each principal shall be in writing, shall not exceed the contract term of the current director of schools, and may be renewed. The contract shall specify duties other than those prescribed by statute and shall contain performance standards including the requirement that the principal's annual evaluation be based on student achievement data, with a significant

portion, as defined by the guidelines and criteria developed by the teacher evaluation advisory committee pursuant to § 49-1-302(d), being student growth data as reflected in teacher effect data and TVAS data, as such data is developed pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Title 49, Chapter 1, Part 6.

Other standards that may be considered in the evaluation shall include but not be limited to other benchmarks for student proficiency, graduation rates, ACT scores where applicable and student attendance. The contract shall provide for consequences when the standards are not met. The performance contract may provide for bonuses beyond base salary, if performance standards are met or exceeded. Reasons for the nonrenewal of a contract may include, but are not limited to inadequate performance as determined by the evaluations. A principal who has tenure as a teacher shall retain all rights of such status, expressly

SECTION 12. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-3-306(a)(1), is amended by adding the following sentence at the end of the subdivision: "In the alternative, an LEA may submit to the commissioner its own proposed salary schedule, subject to collective bargaining where applicable. Implementation of such a salary schedule shall be subject to approval by the commissioner and the state board. In no case shall a salary schedule adopted pursuant to this subdivision (1) result in the reduction of the salary of a teacher employed by the LEA at the time of the adoption of the salary schedule.

including those specified in § 49-5-510.

SECTION 13. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-104, is amended by adding the following language as a new, appropriately designated subsection:

() The department of education, with the assistance of the LEAs, shall identify career and technical education classes in which there is no physical

safety risk to students for the purpose of making recommendations to the state board of education that such classes be exempted from the maximum class size for career and technical education classes. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a), upon approval by the state board, the maximum class size standard for any so identified classes shall be set by state board of education policy, at the maximum class size for academic classes in grades seven through twelve (7-12). If the maximum class size of a career and technical class is set at the maximum class size for academic classes in grades seven through twelve (7-12), then the funding level for such class under the basic education program shall be the same as the funding level for academic classes in the grade level at which the class is taught.

SECTION 14. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-5-512, is amended by deleting the existing language in its entirety and by substituting instead the following language:

- (a) A tenured teacher, who receives notification of charges pursuant to § 49-5-511, may, within thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice, demand a full and complete hearing on the charges before an impartial hearing officer selected by the board, as follows:
 - (1) The teacher shall give written notice to the director of schools of the teacher's request for a hearing;
 - (2) The director of schools shall, within five (5) days after receipt of the request, name an impartial hearing officer who shall be responsible for notifying the parties of the hearing officer's assignment. The hearing officer shall direct the parties or the attorneys for the parties, or both, to appear before

the hearing officer for simplification of issues and the scheduling of the hearing, which in no event shall be set later than thirty (30) days following receipt of notice demanding a hearing. In the discretion of the hearing officer, all or part of any prehearing conference may be conducted by telephone if each participant has an opportunity to participate, be heard, and to address proof and evidentiary concerns. The hearing officer is empowered to issue appropriate orders and to regulate the conduct of the proceedings;

- (3) For the purposes of this part, "impartial" means that the selected hearing officer shall have no history of employment with the board or director of schools, no relationship with any board member and no relationship with the teacher or representatives of the teacher;
- (4) All parties shall have the right to be represented by counsel, the opportunity to call and subpoena witnesses, the opportunity to examine all witnesses, the right to require that all testimony be given under oath and the right to have evidence deemed relevant by the submitting party included in the record of the hearing, even if objected to by the opposing party;
- (5) All witnesses shall be entitled to the witness fees and mileage provided by law, which fees and mileage shall be paid by the party issuing a subpoena or calling the witnesses to testify;
- (6) The impartial hearing officer shall administer oaths to witnesses, who testify under oath;
- (7) A record of the hearing, either by transcript, recording, or as is otherwise agreed by the parties shall be prepared if the decision of the hearing officer is appealed, and all decisions of the hearing officer shall be reduced to

writing and included in the record, together with all evidence otherwise submitted;

- (8) On request of either party to the hearing, witnesses may be barred from the hearing except as they are called to testify. The hearing may be private at the request of the teacher or in the discretion of the hearing officer; and
- (9) At appropriate stages of the hearing, the hearing officer may give the parties the full opportunity to file briefs, proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, and proposed initial or final orders. The hearing officer shall within ten
- (10)days of closing the hearing, decide what disposition to make of the case and shall immediately thereafter give the board and the teacher written findings of fact, conclusions of law and a concise and explicit statement of the outcome of the decision.
- (b) The director of schools or other school officials shall not be held liable, personally or officially, when performing their duties in prosecuting charges against any teacher or teachers under this part.

(c)

(1) If the affected teacher desires to appeal from a decision rendered in whole or in part in favor of the school system, the teacher shall first exhaust the administrative remedy of appealing the decision to the board of education within ten (10) working days of the hearing officer's delivery of the written findings of fact, conclusions and decision to the affected employee.

- (2) Upon written notice of appeal, the director of schools shall prepare a copy of the proceedings, transcript, documentary and other evidence presented, and transmit the copy to the board within twenty (20) working days of receipt of notice of appeal.
- evidence shall be introduced. The affected employee may appear in person or by counsel and argue why the decision should be modified or reversed. The board may sustain the decision, send the record back if additional evidence is necessary, revise the penalty or reverse the decision. Before any findings and decision are sustained or punishment inflicted, a majority of the membership of the board shall concur in sustaining the charges and decision. The board shall render its decision on the appeal within ten (10) working days after the conclusion of the hearing.
- (4) Any party dissatisfied with the decision rendered by the board shall have the right to appeal to the chancery court in the county where the school system is located within twenty (20) working days after receipt of the dated notice of the decision of the board. It shall be the duty of the board to cause the entire record and other evidence in the case to be transmitted to the court. The review of the court shall be de novo on the record of the hearing held by the hearing officer and reviewed by the board.
- (5) The director of schools shall also have the right to appeal any adverse ruling by the hearing officer to the board under the same conditions as set out in this subsection (c).

SECTION 15. If any provision of this act or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the act which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to that end the provisions of this act are declared to be severable.

SECTION 16. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law, the public welfare requiring it.

Public Chapter No. 2 PUBLIC ACTS, 2010

PUBLIC CHAPTER NO. 2

FIRST EXTRAORDINARY SESSION SENATE

BILL NO. 7005

By Kyle, Woodson, Gresham, McNally, Berke, Kelsey, Tate

Substituted for: House Bill No. 7010

By Michael Turner, Lois DeBerry, Harry Brooks, Naifeh, Fitzhugh, Maddox, Williams, Dunn

AN ACT to amend Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 49, Chapters 1, 2, 3 and 5, relative to education.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF TENNESSEE:

SECTION 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the "Tennessee First to the Top Act of 2010".

SECTION 2. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(f)(1)(C)(ii), is amended by deleting the existing language and by substituting instead the following language:

Removing the school from the jurisdiction of the LEA and placing the school under the jurisdiction of the "achievement school district" established by the Commissioner of Education pursuant to § 49-1-614.

SECTION 3. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(f)(1)(C), is further amended by adding the following language as newly designated subdivision (v):

Notwithstanding any provision of the law to the contrary, the commissioner shall have the authority to choose for the school the plan of alternative governance to be developed and implemented.

SECTION 4. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(g), is amended by deleting the following language:

If the school does not meet the performance standards of the state board by the end of the fourth year of improvement status, the school may be placed in the fifth year of improvement status (Restructuring 2 --- Alternative Governance). During the fifth year of improvement status:

and by substituting instead the following language:

If the school does not meet the performance standards of the state board by the end of the fourth year of improvement status, the school may be placed in the fifth year of improvement status (Restructuring 2 --- Alternative Governance).

During the fifth year of improvement status or at any time a Title I school meets the U.S. Department of Education's definition of "persistently lowest achieving schools":

SECTION 5. Tennessee Code Annotated, 49-1-602(g)(2)(E), is amended by deleting the existing language and by substituting instead the following language:

Implementation of the plan for governance, selected from options provided by the commissioner or the specific plan chosen by the commissioner; provided, however, that in the case where the plan for alternative governance is implemented, the LEA shall continue to be accountable for the match required by the funding formula for students served. In addition, the LEA shall continue to provide such support services as identified by the commissioner or designee.

SECTION 6. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-602(l)(1)(A), is amended by deleting the existing language and by substituting instead the following language:

Assume any or all powers of governance for the LEA, including, but not limited to, assigning the LEA, or individual schools within the LEA, to the achievement school district. However, in the case of the commissioner assuming

governance, the LEA shall continue to be accountable for the match required by the BEP funding formula for students served.

SECTION 7. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-606(a), is amended by deleting the second sentence of the subsection in its entirety.

SECTION 8. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-606(b), is amended by adding the following sentence at the end of the subsection:

The estimates of specific teacher effects may also be made available to the state board approved teacher preparation programs of individual teachers. The estimates made available to the preparation programs shall not be personally identifiable with a particular teacher.

SECTION 9. Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 49, Chapter 1, Part 6, is amended by adding the following language as a new § 49-1-614:

- (d) For the purposes of this title, the "achievement school district" is an organizational unit of the Department of Education, established by the commissioner for the purpose of providing oversight for the operation of the total program for individual schools or LEAs, pursuant to § 49-1-602.
- (e) The commissioner shall have the authority to contract with one or more individuals, governmental entities or nonprofit entities to manage the day- to-day

operations of any or all schools or LEAs placed in the achievement school district, including, but not limited to, providing direct services to students.

- (f) The individual, governmental entity or nonprofit entity contracted with to manage schools or LEAs that have been placed in the achievement school district may apply to the commissioner for a waiver of any state board rule that inhibits or hinders the ability of the school or LEA to achieve the required adequate yearly progress benchmarks. Notwithstanding the provisions of this subsection (c), the commissioner shall not waive rules related to the following:
 - (6) Federal and state civil rights;
 - (7) Federal, state, and local health and safety;
 - (8) Federal and state public records;
 - (9) Immunizations;
 - (10) Possession of weapons on school grounds;
 - (11) Background checks and fingerprinting of personnel;
 - (12) Federal and state special education services;

- (13) Student due process;
- (14) Parental rights;
- (15) Federal and state student assessment and accountability;
- (16) Open meetings; and
- (17) At least the same equivalent time of instruction as required in regular public schools.
- (d)(1) The individual, governmental entity or nonprofit entity contracted with to manage schools that have been placed in the achievement school district shall have the authority to determine whether any teacher who was previously assigned to such school shall have the option of continuing to teach at that school as an employee of the managing entity. Any teacher not given that option shall remain an employee of the LEA, subject to the provisions of § 49-5-511. Moreover, any teacher who accepts that option shall have the right to return to the employ of the LEA should the managing entity later determine not to continue to employ such teacher, subject to the provisions of § 49-5-511.
- (2) With the exception of the provisions protecting teachers' rights to accumulated sick leave, retirement benefits, pension and tenure status

within an LEA, the provisions of Tennessee Code Annotated, § 49-5-203, and the Education Professional Negotiations Act, compiled in Title 49, Chapter 5, Part 6, shall not apply to teachers who accept the option of continuing to teach at a school placed in the achievement school district.

- (e) After a school or LEA that has been placed in the achievement school district achieves the required adequate yearly progress benchmarks for two consecutive years, the commissioner shall develop a transition plan for the purpose of planning the school's or LEA's return to the jurisdiction of the local board of education. Implementation of this plan shall begin after the school or
- LEA achieves the required adequate yearly progress benchmarks for three consecutive years. The plan must be fully implemented and the transition must be completed after a school or LEA achieves adequate yearly progress benchmarks for five consecutive years.
- (f) Notwithstanding the provisions of any law to the contrary, the commissioner shall have the authority to remove any school or LEA from the jurisdiction of the achievement school district at any time.
 - (g)(1) Absent other funding, the achievement school district shall use state and local funding identified above to operate a school placed in alternative governance and to implement new initiatives and programs as appropriate. Such state and local funding may be used to implement new initiatives and programs to the extent that any increase in recurring

expenditures are funded additionally so as not to create a financial burden on the LEA when the school or LEA is removed from the achievement school district.

- (1) To the extent that such state funds are not used to support a school or LEA in the achievement school district, they shall be allocated to a state reserve fund to be distributed to an LEA only upon approval of the commissioner.
- (2) To the extent that such local funds are not used to support a school or LEA in the achievement school district, the LEA shall allocate such funds to a special BEP reserve account until the school or LEA is placed back under the jurisdiction of the LEA. It is the legislative intent that such funds be used only for non-recurring purposes.
- (h) Any individuals, governmental entities, or nonprofit entities contracting with the commissioner to manage the operation of any school under this section shall provide timely information to the LEA and director of schools regarding its operation of such schools, including, but not limited to, matters relating to employment of personnel at the school as provided for in subsection (d). The LEA may continue to support the educational improvement of the school under the direction and guidance of the commissioner and in accordance with any contracts entered into in accordance with this section. In addition, any individuals, governmental entities, or nonprofit entities contracting with the commissioner may

voluntarily work with the LEA in providing to the schools professional development or technical assistance, instructional and administrative support, and facilitating any other support that may be beneficial to academic progress of the school.

- (i) Any contracts to manage schools or LEAs that have been placed in the achievement school district shall require expenditure reports for funds received and expended pursuant to such contracts. Such reports shall be provided to the Department of Education and comptroller of the treasury for review.
- (j) No state funds, other than funds held within the special reserve account pursuant to subsection (g)(2), shall be expended on schools or LEAs placed in the achievement school district unless specifically appropriated in a General Appropriations Act.

SECTION 10. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-1-302(d)(1) and (2), are amended by deleting those subdivisions in their entirety and by substituting instead the following:

(d)(1) There is hereby created the "teacher evaluation advisory committee". The committee shall consist of fifteen (15) members. The Commissioner of Education, the executive director of the State Board of Education and the chairpersons of the Education Committees of the Senate and the House of Representatives shall be members. One (1) member shall

be a K-12 public school teacher appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives and one (1) member shall be a K-12 public school teacher appointed by the Speaker of the Senate. The remaining nine (9) members shall be appointed by the governor and shall consist of three (3) public school teachers, two (2) public school principals, one (1) director of a school district, and three (3) members representing other stake-holders interests; provided, that at least one (1) member of the committee shall be a parent of a currently enrolled public school student. The membership of the committee shall appropriately reflect the racial and geographic diversity of this state. The Commissioner of Education shall serve as the chairperson of the committee. All appointments to the teacher evaluation advisory committee shall be made within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this act.

(4) The committee shall develop and recommend to the board, guidelines and criteria for the annual evaluation of all teachers and principals employed by LEAs, including a local-level evaluation grievance procedure. This grievance procedure shall provide a means for evaluated teachers and principals to challenge only the accuracy of the data used in the evaluation and the adherence to the evaluation policies adopted pursuant to this subdivision. Following the development of these guidelines and criteria, the board shall adopt guidelines and criteria. The evaluations shall be a factor in employment decisions, including, but not necessarily limited

to, promotion, retention, termination, compensation and the attainment of tenure status.

- (A) Fifty percent (50%) of the evaluation criteria developed pursuant to this subdivision (2) shall be comprised of student achievement data.
 - Thirty-five percent (35%) of the evaluation criteria shall be student achievement data based on student growth data as represented by the TVAAS, developed pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 49, Chapter 1, Part 6, or some other comparable measure of student growth, if no such TVAAS data is available.
 - Fifteen percent (15%) shall be based on other measures of student achievement selected from a list of such measures developed by the teacher evaluation advisory committee and adopted by the board. For each evaluation, the teacher or principal being evaluated shall mutually agree with the person or persons responsible for conducting the evaluation on which such measures are employed. If the teacher or principal being evaluated does not agree with the measures used, the person or persons responsible for

conducting the evaluation shall choose the evaluation measures.

- (iii) Notwithstanding subdivisions (i) and (ii) above, if a particular teacher's or principal's student growth data, as described in subdivision (i) above, reflects attainment of a specific achievement level, to be recommended by the teacher evaluation advisory committee and adopted by the board, then such student growth data may, at the choice of the individual being evaluated, comprise fifty percent (50%) of their evaluation.
- (b) Other mandatory criteria for the evaluations shall include, but not necessarily be limited to, the following:
 - (1) Review of prior evaluations; and
 - (2) Personal conferences to include discussion of strengths, weaknesses and remediation; and
 - (3) Relative to teachers only, classroom or position observation followed by written assessment; and

(4) Relative to principals only, additional criteria pursuant to

§ 49-2-

303(a)(1).

- (11)The policies adopted pursuant to subdivision (2) shall be effective no later than July 1, 2011, in order to be implemented prior to the 2011-2012 academic year. Prior to the implementation of these policies, the existing guidelines and criteria for the evaluation of certificated persons employed by LEAs shall continue to be utilized.
- (12) The evaluation procedure created by this subsection shall not apply to teachers who are employed under contracts of duration of one hundred twenty (120) days per school year or less or who are not employed full-time.
- (13)The committee shall be subject to the governmental entity review law, compiled in Title 4, Chapter 29, and shall terminate on July 1, 2011, unless continued or extended by the general assembly.

SECTION 11. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-2-303(a)(1), is amended by deleting the subdivision in its entirety and by substituting instead the following language:

Each director of schools shall employ principals for the public schools. The employment contract with each principal shall be in writing, shall not exceed the contract term of the current director of schools, and may be renewed. The contract shall specify duties other than those prescribed by statute and shall contain performance standards including the requirement that the principal's annual evaluation be based on student achievement data, with a significant portion, as defined by the guidelines and criteria adopted by the board in accordance with § 49-1-302(d)(2), being student growth data as reflected in teacher effect data and TVAAS data, as such data is developed pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 49, Chapter 1, Part 6. Other standards that may be considered in the evaluation shall include, but not be limited to, other benchmarks for student proficiency, graduation rates, ACT scores where applicable and student attendance. The contract shall provide for consequences when the standards are not met. The performance contract may provide for bonuses beyond base salary, if performance standards are met or exceeded. Reasons for the nonrenewal of a contract may include, but are not limited to,

inadequate performance as determined by the evaluations. A principal who has tenure as a teacher shall retain all rights of such status, expressly including those specified in § 49-5-510.

SECTION 12. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-3-306(a)(1), is amended by adding the following language at the end of the subdivision:

In the alternative, an LEA may submit to the commissioner its own proposed salary schedule, subject to collective bargaining where applicable. Implementation of such a salary schedule shall be subject to approval by the commissioner and the state board. In no case shall a salary schedule adopted pursuant to this subdivision (1) result in the reduction of the salary of a teacher employed by the LEA at the time of the adoption of the salary schedule. Any additional expenditure incurred as a result of any such salary schedule shall be subject to appropriation by the governing body empowered to appropriate the funds.

SECTION 13. Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 49-5-512, is amended by deleting the existing language in its entirety and by substituting instead the following language:

- (a) A tenured teacher, who receives notification of charges pursuant to § 49-5-511, may, within thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice, demand a full and complete hearing on the charges before an impartial hearing officer selected by the board, as follows:
 - 1. The teacher shall give written notice to the director of schools of the teacher's request for a hearing;
 - 2. The director of schools shall, within five (5) days after receipt of the request, name an impartial hearing officer who shall be responsible for notifying the parties of the hearing officer's assignment. The hearing officer shall direct the parties or the attorneys for the parties, or both, to appear before the hearing officer for simplification of issues and the scheduling of the hearing, which in no event shall be set later than thirty days following receipt of notice demanding a hearing. In the discretion of the hearing officer, all or part of any prehearing conference may be conducted by telephone if each participant has an opportunity to participate, be heard, and to address proof and evidentiary concerns. The hearing officer is empowered to

issue appropriate orders and to regulate the conduct of the proceedings;

- 3. For the purposes of this part, "impartial" means that the selected hearing officer shall have no history of employment with the board or director of schools, no relationship with any board member and no relationship with the teacher or representatives of the teacher;
- 4.All parties shall have the right to be represented by counsel, the opportunity to call and subpoena witnesses, the opportunity to examine all witnesses, the right to require that all testimony be given under oath and the right to have evidence deemed relevant by the submitting party included in the record of the hearing, even if objected to by the opposing party;
- 5. All witnesses shall be entitled to the witness fees and mileage provided by law, which fees and mileage shall be paid by the party issuing a subpoena or calling the witnesses to testify;

- 6. The impartial hearing officer shall administer oaths to witnesses, who testify under oath;
- 7. A record of the hearing, either by transcript, recording, or as is otherwise agreed by the parties shall be prepared if the decision of the hearing officer is appealed, and all decisions of the hearing officer shall be reduced to writing and included in the record, together with all evidence otherwise submitted;
- 8.On request of either party to the hearing, witnesses may be barred from the hearing except as they are called to testify.

 The hearing may be private at the request of the teacher or in the discretion of the hearing officer; and
- 9.At appropriate stages of the hearing, the hearing officer may give the parties the full opportunity to file briefs, proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, and proposed initial or final orders. The hearing officer shall within ten (10) days of closing the hearing, decide what disposition to make of the case and shall immediately thereafter give the board and

the teacher written findings of fact, conclusions of law and a concise and explicit statement of the outcome of the decision.

- (b) The director of schools or other school officials shall not be held liable, personally or officially, when performing their duties in prosecuting charges against any teacher or teachers under this part.
 - (c)(1) If the affected teacher desires to appeal from a decision rendered in whole or in part in favor of the school system, the teacher shall first exhaust the administrative remedy of appealing the decision to the board of education within ten (10) working days of the hearing officer's delivery of the written findings of fact, conclusions and decision to the affected employee.

Section 1.01 Upon written notice of appeal, the director of schools shall prepare a copy of the proceedings, transcript, documentary and other evidence presented, and transmit the copy to the board within twenty (20) working days of receipt of notice of appeal.

Section 1.02 The board shall hear the appeal on the record and no new evidence shall be introduced. The affected employee may appear in person or by counsel and argue why the decision should be modified

or reversed. The board may sustain the decision, send the record back if additional evidence is necessary, revise the penalty or reverse the decision. Before any findings and decision are sustained or punishment inflicted, a majority of the membership of the board shall concur in sustaining the charges and decision. The board shall render its decision on the appeal within ten (10) working days after the conclusion of the hearing.

Section 1.03 Any party dissatisfied with the decision rendered by the board shall have the right to appeal to the chancery court in the county where the school system is located within twenty (20) working days after receipt of the dated notice of the decision of the board. It shall be the duty of the board to cause the entire record and other evidence in the case to be transmitted to the court. The review of the court shall be de novo on the record of the hearing held by the hearing officer and reviewed by the board.

Section 1.04 The director of schools shall also have the right to appeal any adverse ruling by the hearing officer to the board under the same conditions as set out in this subsection (c).

136

SECTION 14. The Teacher Professional Development Fund is established, into

which only federal monies shall be deposited, for the purposes of improved teaching,

pedagogical skills, and classroom instruction.

SECTION 15. The Department of Education shall annually report to the general

assembly the amount of Race to the Top funds awarded to each local education agency

and achievement school district.

SECTION 16. If any provision of this act or the application thereof to any person

or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or

applications of the act which can be given effect without the invalid provision or

application, and to that end the provisions of this act are declared to be severable.

SECTION 17. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law, the public welfare

requiring it.

PASSED: January 15, 2010

APPROVED this 16th day of January 2010

 $\label{eq:Appendix B}$ Tennessee First to the Top Amendment List

HOUSE NUMBER	AMENDME NT	ADOPTED (Y/N)	SENATE NUMBER	AMMENDME NT	ADOPTED (Y/N)
HA7001	Amendment 1-0 to HB7010	N	SA7002	Amendment 1-1 to SB7005	Y
HA7019	Amendment 1-1 to HB7010	N	SA7003	Amendment 2-2 to SB7005	Y
HA7002	Amendment 2-0 to HB7010	N	SA7004	Amendment 3-1 to SB7005	N
HA7003	Amendment 3-0 to HB7010	N	SA7005	Amendment 4-2 to SB7005	Y
HA7004	Amendment 4-0 to HB7010	N	SA7006	Amendment 5- to SB7005	Y
HA7005	Amendment 5-0 to HB7010	N	SA7008	Amendment 6-1 to SB7005	Y
HA7007	Amendment 6-0 to HB7010	N	SA7009	Amendment 7-2 to SB7005	Y
HA7008	Amendment 7-0 to HB7010	N	SA7010	Amendment 8-3 to SB7005	Y
HA7009	Amendment 8-0 to HB7010	N	SA7011	Amendment 9-4 to SB7005	Y
HA7010	Amendment 9-0 to HB7010	N	SA7012	Amendment 10- to SB7005	N
HA7011	Amendment 10-0 to HB7010	N	SA7013	Amendment 11- to SB7005	N

HOUSE NUMBER	AMENDME NT	ADOPTED (Y/N)	SENATE NUMBER	AMMENDME NT	ADOPTED (Y/N)
HA7012	Amendment 11-0 to HB7010	N	SA7014	Amendment 12- to SB7005	N
HA7013	Amendment 12-0 to HB7010	N	SA7015	Amendment 13- to SB7005	N
HA7014	Amendment 13-0 to HB7010	N	SA7016	Amendment 14- to SB7005	N
HA7015	Amendment 14-0 to HB7010	N	SA7017	Amendment 15- to SB7005	Y
HA7016	Amendment 15-0 to HB7010	Y	SA7018	Amendment 16- to SB7005	N
HA7017	Amendment 16-0 to HB7010	N	SA7019	Amendment 17- to SB7005	Y
HA7018	Amendment 17-0 to HB7010	N			
HA7020	Amendment 18-0 to HB7010	N			
HA7021	Amendment 19-0 to HB7010	Y			
HA7022	Amendment 20-0 to HB7010	N			
HA7023	Amendment 21-0 to HB7010	N			
HA7024	Amendment 22-0 to HB7010	N			

HOUSE	AMENDME	_	SENATE	AMMENDME	ADOPTED
NUMBER	NT		NUMBER	NT	(Y/N)
HA7025	Amendment 23-0 to HB7010	Y			